
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Bankston

AGENDA March 16, 2016

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Bankston

Minutes Recessed Meeting - February 24, 2016

Minutes Agenda Session - February 24, 2016

Minutes Regular Meeting - March 2, 2016

Report Order of Designation Planning Commission - Todd Leamon March 14, 2016

Res. No. 316-17 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, the bonds and oaths
of notaries previously elected, the oath of Deputy County Clerk, and the oaths of Deputy
Sheriffs.

Res. No. 316-18 A Resolution to reappoint one (1) member to the Phase II Storm Water Management Committee
for a four (4) year term beginning April 1, 2016 and ending April 1, 2020.

Res. No. 316-19 A Resolution making an appropriation to Chattanooga Room in the Inn, Inc., in the amount of
one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District
Four.

Res. No. 316-20 A Resolution making an appropriation to Churchville Neighborhood Association, Inc., in the
amount of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted
to District Four.

Res. No. 316-21 A Resolution adding elevator consulting services and technology consulting services to the list of
professional, technical, and consultant services that may be obtained subject to Section 4.2.4.K
of the Purchasing Rules for Hamilton County.

Res. No. 316-22 A Resolution to adopt a Funding Policy for the Hamilton County Employees’ Pension Plan, the
Hamilton County Commissioners’ Pension Plan, and the Hamilton County Teachers’ Pension
Plan.

Res. No. 316-23 A Resolution authorizing Hamilton County to make an intergovernmental transfer to the State of
Tennessee’s Tenncare program in order to secure additional funding from the State of
Tennessee’s Public Hospital Supplemental Payment Pool (“PHSPP”) for the
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Hospital Authority (“Erlanger”).

Res. No. 316-24 A Resolution Granting Approval of a Special Permit for a cell tower on a tract of land located at
3375 Camp Road.

Res. No. 316-25 A Resolution granting a special permit for a short term vacation rental on property at 719 South
Scenic Highway.

Res. No. 316-26 A Resolution to rezone from A-1 Agricultural District and R-2 Residential District to R-1 Single
Family Residential District, property located at 3015 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.

Res. No. 316-27 A Resolution to Amend the Hamilton County Zoning Regulations, Article VI, Exceptions, Section
400 Special Permits by Hamilton County Commission, Subsection 401.7, Application Procedure
for Planned Unit Development by deleting item “f(1)” that references a sixty (60) month
expiration period and correct minor wording within remaining items b(2), e(1) and f(3).

Res. No. 316-28 A Resolution accepting the bid of Prater Ford, Inc. for one (1)  cargo van amounting to
$29,826.00 for the Sheriff’s Office and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts
necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 316-29 A Resolution accepting the bid of Kiesler Police Supply, Inc. for twenty-three (23) ballistic
helmets amounting to $20,244.14 for Sheriff’s Office and authorizing the County Mayor to sign
any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.



Res. No. 316-30 A Resolution ratifying the purchase of gasoline and diesel fuel for the period of February 1,
2016, through February 29, 2016, and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts
necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 316-31 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to execute a contract with the Tennessee
Department of Military and the Tennessee Emergency Management Agency for a 2015
Homeland Security Grant with a period of 09/01/2015 through 04/30/2018 and amending the
budget of the Emergency Services Department by adding $170,836.20 to revenues and
expenditures.

Res. No. 316-32 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to apply to the Tennessee Department of
Transportation and accept a Litter Prevention and Trash Collection Grant in the amount of
$108,900 with a contract period beginning July 1, 2016 and ending June 30, 2017.

Res. No. 316-33 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division as the Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department to sign a
continuation contract with the Tennessee Department of Health for the time period July 1, 2016
through June 30, 2017 in the amount of $230,000.00 to provide for the coordination of Fetal
Infant Mortality Review and Community Infant Mortality Reduction services in accordance with
the Tennessee Department of Health’s guidelines.

Res. No. 316-34 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to
sign a contract amendment in the amount of $23,490.00 with the Tennessee Department of
Health to provide Emergency Dental Care for uninsured adults ages 19 – 64 years for the time
period July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2016 and to increase the revenue and expense budgets by
$23,490.00.

Res. No. 316-35 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to
enter into and execute a contract with BlueCross BlueShield of Tennessee for the provision of
Behavioral Health services at our Homeless Health Care Center to product members effective
3/16/2016.

Res. No. 316-36 A Resolution accepting the bid of Swarco Industries, Inc. for one (1) year contract pricing,
beginning March 16, 2016, through March 15, 2017, for glass sphere reflective beads for the
Highway Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 316-37 A Resolution accepting the bid of 84 Lumber Company for six (6) months contract pricing,
beginning March 16, 2016, through September 15, 2016, for bagged Portland cement for the
Highway Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 316-38 A Resolution accepting the bid of YSI Incorporated for two (2) water quality sondes amounting to
$26,107.25 for the Hamilton County Water Quality Program and authorizing the County Mayor to
sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 316-39 A Resolution authorizing the payment of seventy thousand dollars ($70,000.00) in settlement of
a claim against Hamilton County as brought by Linda K. Porter for physical injuries received as a
result of a motor vehicle accident with a Hamilton County vehicle.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  February 24, 2016 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 24th day of February, 2016, a Recessed 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner Haynes, 

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. 

Commissioner Beck was absent.  Total present – 8.  Total absent -1.  

 

 Chairman Bankston noted that Commissioner Beck would be absent for today’s 

Recessed Meeting and Agenda Session. Clerk Knowles welcomed Chairman Bankston 

back after a brief illness. 

 

 Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

2 
 

  

Commissioner Graham introduced Director Fred Bennett, Titus International, who 

gave the invocation.  Commissioner Graham led in the pledge to the flag. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-42  A RESOLUTION TO ESTABLISH A MANDATORY 

RETIREMENT AGE REQUIREMENT PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE CODE 

ANNOTATED, SECTION 8-36-205, TO AUTHORIZE THE PAYMENT OF THE 

SUPPLEMENTAL BRIDGE BENEFIT PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE CODE 

ANNOTATED, SECTION 8-36-211, AND TO AUTHORIZE GROUP 1 MEMBERS WHO 

HAVE CREDITABLE SERVICE IN A GROUP 1 POSITION COVERED BY SUCH 

MANDATORY AGE RETIREMENT TO RETIRE ON SERVICE RETIREMENT 

BENEFITS UPON ATTAINMENT OF AGE FIFTY-FIVE (55) WITH TWENTY-FIVE (25) 

YEARS OF CREDITABLE SERVICE PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE CODE 

ANNOTATED, SECTION 8-36-201(A)(2). 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Smedley 

to adopt Resolution No. 216-42.  

 

It was noted that the Retirement Bridge Plan (Res. 216-21) was first presented to 

the Commission last week during the February 17th, 2016 Regular meeting. Hamilton 

County Sheriff Jim Hammond pulled the item because Chairman Bankston and 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

3 
 

Commissioner Mackey were absent. Resolution No. 216-21 was discussed as a 

Committee of the Whole during the February 10th Agenda Session. 

 

Hamilton County Sheriff Jim Hammond spoke regarding this item and noted the 

details of the resolution were thoroughly discussed during the February 10th Agenda 

Session. He stated that the Bridge Retirement Plan (BRP) is a trend across the nation 

and has been adopted by the State of Tennessee covering the Highway Patrol. He 

explained that the resolution allows men and women in law enforcement, who are 

certified, to retire with dignity. A large number of uniformed sheriff deputies were 

present in support of the Bridge Plan.  

 

Commissioner Boyd thanked the large number of officers present at today’s 

meeting. He indicated he could not support a 100% unfunded mandate prior to budget 

preparation that he considered a perk for employees.  He spoke about the long term 

fiscal impact of the Bridge Retirement Plan. He stated unfunded mandates are not fair 

to citizens and he would not be supporting the Bridge Retirement Plan.  

 

Commissioner Mackey spoke about government and its responsibility to protect 

the people. He noted that men and women officers put their lives on the line every day 

to keep the community safe. He thanked law enforcement for their sacrifices and stated 

he would be supporting the Bridge Retirement Plan. 

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

4 
 

Once again Commissioner Mackey noted the excess classroom space that is not 

being used in his district.  

 

Commissioner Fields stated he supported the Bridge Retirement Plan but was 

concerned about how the plan would be funded. He questioned if the Sheriff’s budget 

request for the upcoming year would include an increase. 

 

At this time Sheriff Hammond spoke in detail about the prioritizing process of 

allocating budget monies to each department.  He noted that he has already submitted 

next year’s budget request. 

  

Commissioner Fields recommended that the resolution be postponed until a 

mechanism could be put in place to fund the Bridge Retirement Plan. He stated if a 

funding plan for the Bridge Plan is not put in place, a tax levy increase is going to have 

to take place within a few years. He pointed out that while no one is in favor of a 

property tax increase, it’s the way government is funded.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

postpone Resolution No. 216-42 until a mechanism is put place to fund the Bridge 

Retirement Plan.  

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

5 
 

Commissioner Mackey noted that the Bridge Retirement Plan discussion has 

been ongoing for many years, it has been explored and questions have been answered. 

He encouraged the commission to move forward and make a decision today. 

 

Commissioner Haynes noted that the Bridge Retirement Plan is a tough decision. 

He reported he would be supporting it and stated that public safety is a top concern for 

his constituents. The ability to recruit people into law enforcement is challenging in this 

day and time. He stated that protecting and educating the citizens of Hamilton County 

are essential services of government.  The Bridge Retirement Plan will enhance the 

Sheriff’s ability to recruit officers and keep citizens safe.  

 

Commissioner Fairbanks stated that the Bridge Retirement Plan is not a perk; it’s 

a plan that is desperately needed. He stated his support and encouraged the 

commission to move forward and make a decision today.  

 

Chairman Bankston directed that the vote be taken on the Motion to postpone.  

 

The motion failed on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Nay”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Nay”, Commissioner Mackey, “Nay”, Commissioner 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

6 
 

Smedley, “Nay”, and Chairman Bankston, “Nay”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. 

Commissioner Beck was absent. Total “Aye” votes – 3.  Total “Nay” votes – 5.  

 

A Roll Call vote was ordered regarding the motion to adopt Resolution No. 216-

42. The following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Nay”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fields, “Nay”,  Commissioner Graham, “Nay”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Commissioner Beck was absent. Total “Aye” 

votes – 5.  Total “Nay” votes – 3.  

 

Commissioner Fields and Commissioner Graham clarified that they were not 

against the Bridge Plan; they were against not having a funding mechanism in place for 

the plan. 

 

Commissioner Smedley clarified that a funding mechanism will be put in place for 

the plan.  

 

Sheriff Hammond thanked the commission for their support. 

 

At this time the large crowd of officers in the audience stood and gave a round of 

applause.  



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

7 
 

 

  

Chairman Bankston asked if anyone was present to address the Commission on 

any subject other than zoning. Being no further business Chairman Bankston declared 

the recessed meeting adjourned. 

 

 

 

 

 

      

     Respectfully submitted: 

 

 
      
     _______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

 

Approved: 

 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  February 24, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 24th day of February, 2016, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner Haynes, 

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. 

Commissioner Beck was absent. Total present - 8.  Total absent – 1. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 2

 
PRESENTATION - CERTIFICATE OF CONGRATULATIONS – TRAVIS CLOSE -2015 

REALTOR OF THE YEAR. 

 

 Commissioner Smedley presented a proclamation to Travis Close who was 

awarded by fellow real estate professionals the 2015 Realtor of the Year Award. She 

and Greater Chattanooga Association of Realtors (GCAR) CEO and Executive Vice 

President Carol Seal noted Mr. Close’s accomplishments and extended heartfelt thanks 

for his invaluable service to the community and industry.  

 

 The Realtor of the Year award recognizes those who have served not only in the 

real estate profession but also their communities. The award is given to a realtor with 

high principles of integrity, adherence to the Realtors Code of Ethics and furtherance of 

principle of good real estate practices among brokers, agents, and the general public. 

 

 In response to Commissioner Mackey’s question, Mr. Close responded that the 

policies of Hamilton County are friendly to realtors. Commissioner Mackey said he and 

his fellow commissioners want to do everything they can do to continue the trend of 

increasing home values.  

 

 At this time Mr. Close received a round of applause and shook hands with each 

Commissioner and the Mayor. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 3

 

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered 

as follows: 

 The Criminal Court Clerk’s reports for December 2015 and January 2016 would 
be submitted and made a matter of record.  

 Resolution No. 316-1 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

 Resolution Nos. 316-9 through 316-16 were assigned to the Finance Committee, 
chaired by Commissioner Boyd. 

 Resolution Nos. 316-2 through 316-8 were heard by a Committee of the Whole. 
 
  
 Chairman Bankston stated that Resolution Nos. 216-18 through 216-34 would 

now be heard by the Committee of the Whole. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 316-2 
 

Chairman Bankston spoke regarding this item, which makes an appropriation to 

Brown Middle School in the amount of $1,303.00 from discretionary bond funds, as 

allotted to district nine. It was noted that the funds will assist with the purchase of lab 

equipment.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 4

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 316-3 

 

Chairman Bankston spoke regarding this item, which makes an appropriation to 

Woodmore Elementary School in the amount of $1,938.00 from discretionary bond 

funds, as allotted to district five. It was noted the funds would assist with the purchase of 

a security system.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

  

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 316-4 

 

Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this item, which makes an appropriation 

to Gamma Pi Boule Foundation in the amount of $2,500.00 from general fund 

discretionary monies, as allotted to district four. It was noted that the funds will assist 

with the Boule Golf Classic.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 5

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 316-5 

 

Commissioner Smedley, Chairman of the Education Committee spoke regarding 

this item, which endorses Chattanooga 2.0, a community-wide effort for academic 

excellence in Hamilton County.  She noted that Chattanooga 2.0 is a community-wide 

initiative to improve academic excellence and career credentials in Hamilton County. 

The plan also is an opportunity to improve the quality of life of all future graduates by 

connecting them to jobs that pay a living wage. She spoke about the 2.0 report and the 

major findings the report included.  

 

Chattanooga 2.0 is a group of education, business, and community leaders who 

joined together to release a report summarizing workforce challenges along with 

significant education opportunities for Hamilton County and the region. Chattanooga 2.0 

is led by the Benwood Foundation, the Chattanooga Area Chamber of Commerce, the 

Hamilton County Department of Education, and the Public Education Foundation (PEF).  

 

Chattanooga Chamber of Commerce President Bill Kilbride spoke regarding 

Chattanooga 2.0 and its initiative to boost education and train more graduates for the 

growing job opportunities in Hamilton County.  The leaders of the initiative are calling for 

a series of focused conversations and actions from across the community to better 

support local educators and students and prepare Hamilton County residents for current 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 6

and future jobs. The goal is to make sure local students are successful in school and 

prepared for meaningful careers, and to set forth on a plan to ensure that 75 percent of 

all Hamilton County high school graduates obtain a college degree or technical 

certification by the year 2025.  

 

Commissioner Smedley reiterated Mr. Kilbride’s comment that the Chattanooga 

2.0 initiative is in no way agreeing to a property tax increase now or in the future.  

 

Commissioner Mackey asked if the Chamber of Commerce was going to 

encourage the future Superintendent of Schools to build new school buildings or devote 

the money to the students.  He noted the excess classroom space that is not being 

used in his district.  

 

Mr. Kilbride stated that the Chamber took a strong position with the school board 

to appoint an interim superintendent. The Chamber also suggested to the school board 

that the next superintendent should be a retired individual who is skilled in organization, 

budget, building morale, and facilities. He noted that conversations are taking place 

about the empty classroom space and how it can be used for educational purposes. 

 

 Mr. Kilbride stated that various organizations have convened working groups 

and focus their conversations on the most critical issues. The conversations are open 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 7

and inclusive and are also designed to reach early consensus on specific needs and 

objectives. A framework for action around each of the four focus areas is early 

childhood, K-12, post-secondary and workforce, and faith-based outreach. Each team 

will focus on researching and developing bold strategies that emphasize innovation, as 

well as probably taking people a little out of their comfort zone.  

 

Commissioner Boyd noted that Chattanooga 2.0 is being led by a vast group of 

people who are not all educators. He questioned if the school board would be receptive 

to their suggestions. He thanked Mr. Kilbride for his unbiased review of the entire 

educational process and encouraged educators of the community to be receptive.  

 

Chairman Bankston recognized City of Collegedale Commissioner Ethan White 

and City of Chattanooga Councilman Ken Smith who were present in the audience.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 316-6 

 

Hamilton County Register Pam Hurst spoke regarding this item, which 

appropriates funds from the Register’s Office DP fee account in the amount of 

$24,208.05 for necessary office upgrades and increases the general fund budget for 

capital outlay for the Hamilton County Register’s Office by $12,550.00. Furnishings in 

the amount of $17,914.95 will be purchased from NOI Chattanooga and floor 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 8

title/installation in the amount of $6,294.00 will be purchased from Tom’s Carpet Outlet 

Inc.  The improvements to the Register’s Office will require an amendment to the 

General Fund capital outlay budget for the Register’s Office of $12,550.00. She did note 

that her office will be submitting over one million dollars in excess fees. 

 

Mayor Coppinger thanked Register Hurst and Clerk Knowles for continuing to 

find ways to submit excess fees to county general each year.  

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Register Hurst noted that yearly 

excess fees are generally around the same amount every year. In response to 

Commissioner Boyd’s request, she agreed to send him a copy of April 1st, 2016 excess 

fee report. 

 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 316-7 

 

Lee Norris, Director of General Services spoke regarding this item, which 

accepts the bid of Draeger Safety, Inc. for a portable exterior live fire trainer and tank 

prop amounting to $28,785.00 for emergency services.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 9

There were no questions from Commissioners. Commissioner Haynes welcomed 

Lee Norris to county government. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 316-8 

 

Todd Leamon, Administrator of Public Works and County Engineer spoke 

regarding this item, which increases the contract with TWH Architects, Inc. for the 

design of the New East Brainerd Elementary School for an amount not to exceed 

$141,035.88 of previously budgeted funds. He noted the original design contract stated 

that the architectural fee for design services would be recalculated when the final 

construction cost was known.  Based on the bid construction cost and completion of the 

project, the architectural fee should be increased for an amount not to exceed 

$141,035.88 for design services. This will close out the contract with TWH Architects, 

Inc. Vance Travis, a representative with TWH Architects, Inc. and Justin Witt, Director of 

Maintenance and Operations for the Hamilton County Department of Education were 

present for questions.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 10

Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee, announced that the 

Finance Committee would be meeting in the Commission Room immediately following 

the Agenda Session.   

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Several Commissioners welcomed Chairman Bankston back and wished him a 

speedy recovery.  

 

Commissioner Haynes thanked City of Collegedale Commissioner Ethan White 

and City of Chattanooga Councilman Ken Smith for attending today’s meeting. He also 

congratulated the 2016 Middle School Teacher of the Year, Mrs. Carrie Bishop, from 

Hixson Middle School.  

 

 Commissioner Boyd invited everyone to attend two community meetings 

regarding the Hamilton County Water and Wastewater Treatment Authority (WWTA). 

The first meeting will be co-hosted by Gene Shipley and Commissioner Fairbanks at 

Soddy Daisy City Hall, Thursday, March 10th at 6:30 pm. The second meeting will be co-

hosted by Howard Cotter, City of Red Bank representative to the WWTA board, at Red 

Bank Community Center, Thursday, March 31st at 6:30 pm.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 11

 Commissioner Boyd made comments that centered around an article published 

in the Chattanooga Times Free Press on February 23, 2016. He addressed a statement 

quoted in the article indicating that in the event an unforeseen tragedy happened and 

the Mayor passed away, the Commission Chairman would take over until a new Mayor 

was appointed. Chairman Bankston’s ability to do so was questioned. 

 

 Commissioner Boyd stated there are three major qualities a leader must hold; 

integrity, honesty and fairness.  He stated that Chairman Bankston represents those 

three qualities and encouraged the public to put any concerns they have at rest.  

 

 Commissioner Fairbanks echoed Commissioner Boyd’s comments about the 

Chairman.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley congratulated the 2016 Teachers of the Year. Diane 

Huseman from Nolan Elementary School, Carrie Bishop from Hixson Middle School and 

Kristen Legac from East Hamilton School were the award recipients.  

 

In response to the February 23rd news article she commended Chairman 

Bankston for standing up and telling the truth. She stated that it was obvious that 

Senator Gardenhire was misinformed. She reminded the Commission of the lengthy 

discussion that took place on December 9th, 2015 regarding the letter to uncouple the 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 12

commissions pay from the county mayor’s pay (Resolution No. 1215-40). She recalled 

Attorney Taylor’s comments that the intent of the letter is not to raise the pay of 

Commissioners, but to change the law that ties their salary to the Mayor’s salary. For 

the record, she made it known that if the intent of the letter was to increase the 

commission’s pay she would have voted no.  

 

 Mayor Coppinger thanked Hamilton County Sheriff Jim Hammond, Captain Bill 

Johnson and Captain Lynn Triplett for their informative meetings regarding the Sheriff’s 

Department Bridge Retirement Plan. He spoke of the recent adoption of the Bridge Plan 

(Resolution No. 216-42) and noted that the plan has been an on-going project for 10 

years. 

 

The Mayor also noted that the county will be sharing half the costs with the City 

of Chattanooga to demolish the building next to the First Tennessee Pavilion.  

Demolition cost to the county is estimated to be $9,000.00. The building is jointly owned 

by the city and county and has been in disrepair for a couple of years. 

 

 Chairman Bankston thanked everyone for the prayers and get well wishes 

regarding his recent heart procedure. He encouraged everyone to attend the 50th 

Annual Tri-State Home Show February 26th, 27th, and 28th at the Convention and Trade 

Center.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

FEBRUARY 24, 2016 
 

 13

 

 DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 

Being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting adjourned.  

 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
Approved: 

           

__________   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  March 02, 2016 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 2nd day of March, 2016, a Regular Meeting of 

the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the Courthouse, 

in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the following 

proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman 

Bankston. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0.  Commissioner Beck arrived moments 

after the roll call.  

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

2 

 

Commissioner Bankston introduced Pastor Fletcher Farris, Community Baptist 

Church, who gave the invocation. Commissioner Bankston led in the pledge to the flag.  

 

PRESENTATION – MYELOMA AWARENESS 

  

Mayor Coppinger welcomed Linda Huguelet, a multiple myeloma survivor and 

leader of the Chattanooga Multiple Myeloma Networking Group to speak about this 

item. She thanked the Commission for their support and the Mayor for declaring March 

2016 Multiple Myeloma Action Month. She provided additional details regarding the 

symptoms of the illness and noted that early detection is crucial for prognosis and 

therapy.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, that the 

minutes of the Recessed Meeting of February 10, 2016, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of February 10, 2016, and the Regular Meeting of February 17, 2016, be 

approved, treat same as read, made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion 

was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

3 

 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total 

present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-1 A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 

NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, OATH OF DEPUTY SHERIFF, AND THE 

OATHS OF OFFICE OF COMMISSIONERS OF NORTH WEST UTILITY DISTRICT. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 316-1. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

CRIMINAL COURT CLERK’S REPORTS 

  

The Criminal Court Clerk’s reports for December 2015 and January 2016 were 

submitted and made a matter of record. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

4 

 

 Chairman Bankston reported that Resolution Nos. 316-2 through 316-8 were 

heard by a Committee of the Whole.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-2 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF 

ONE THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED THREE DOLLARS ($1,303.00) FROM 

DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS (AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT NINE) TO ASSIST 

WITH THE PURCHASE OF LAB EQUIPMENT FOR BROWN MIDDLE SCHOOL. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks seconded by Commissioner Smedley, 

to adopt Resolution No. 316-2. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-3 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF UP 

TO ONE THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED THIRTY EIGHT DOLLARS ($1,938.00) FROM 

DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS (AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE) TO 

PURCHASE A SECURITY SYSTEM FOR WOODMORE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

5 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 316-3. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-4 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

GAMMA PI BOULE FOUNDATION IN THE AMOUNT OF TWO THOUSAND FIVE 

HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 

MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Haynes, to 

adopt Resolution No. 316-4. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

Commissioner Graham announced he was present. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

6 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-5 A RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF CHATTANOOGA 2.0, A 

COMMUNITY-WIDE EFFORT FOR ACADEMIC EXCELLENCE IN HAMILTON 

COUNTY. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to 

adopt Resolution No. 316-5.  

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Attorney Taylor stated 

Resolution No. 316-5 doesn’t give any authority to Chattanooga 2.0  He also questioned 

the name being Chattanooga 2.0 since the schools are administered by Hamilton 

County. 

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s concerns, Commissioner Smedley noted 

she didn’t have any part in naming the initiative. She noted her support for Chattanooga 

2.0 and stated the name of the initiative was the least of her worries.  

 

Chattanooga Chamber of Commerce President Bill Kilbride agreed that the name 

of the initiative was quickly adopted. He agreed to look into the possibility of changing 

the name. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

7 

 

Commissioner Haynes reported that the school principals in district 3 have 

questioned if getting parents involved in the school system is part of Chattanooga 2.0 

initiative. 

 

In response to Commissioner Mackey’s suggestion to name Chattanooga 2.0 to 

Hamilton County 2.0 Commissioner Smedley asked that the commission vote in support 

of the initiative and allow Mr. Kilbride to take the suggestion back for recommendation. 

She also reiterated that the Chattanooga 2.0 initiative is in no way agreeing to a 

property tax increase now or in the future.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-6 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE APPROPRIATION 

OF FUNDS FROM THE REGISTER'S OFFICE DP FEE ACCOUNT IN THE AMOUNT 

OF $24,208.05 FOR NECESSARY OFFICE UPGRADES AND INCREASING THE 

GENERAL FUND BUDGET FOR CAPITAL OUTLAY FOR THE HAMILTON COUNTY 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

8 

 

REGISTER'S OFFICE BY $12,550.00 AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 316-6.  

 

Commissioner Graham reiterated that Register of Deeds Pamela Hurst will be 

submitting one million dollars in excess fees. He thanked her for continuing to find ways 

to submit excess fees to county general each year. 

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s request, Register Hurst agreed to email him 

last year’s excess fee reports and an estimated report for April 1st, 2016 excess fees.  

 

Mayor Coppinger commended Register Hurst and Clerk Knowles for remitting 

sizeable amounts of excess fees to the general government.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

9 

 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-7 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF DRAEGER 

SAFETY, INC. FOR A PORTABLE EXTERIOR LIVE FIRE TRAINER AND TANK 

PROP AMOUNTING TO $28,785.00 FOR EMERGENCY SERVICES AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 316-7. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-8 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO INCREASE THE CONTRACT WITH TWH ARCHITECTS, INC. FOR THE DESIGN 

OF THE NEW EAST BRAINERD ELEMENTARY SCHOOL, FOR AN AMOUNT NOT 

TO EXCEED $141,035.88 OF PREVIOUSLY BUDGETED FUNDS. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

10 

 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 316-8. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Nay”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Nay”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” 

votes – 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 2. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 316-9 through 316-16 be 

considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-9 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF AMERICAN 

GROUP PHOTOGRAPHY DBA CUSTOM PHOTO IMAGES FOR ONE (1) 

ROUNDSHOT METRICS CAMERA AND EQUIPMENT AMOUNTING TO $17,995.00 

FOR SHERIFF'S OFFICE AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-10 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE SHERIFF'S OFFICE 

TO PURCHASE, FROM THE TENNESSEE STATEWIDE CONTRACT, NEW AND 

UNUSED VEHICLES TO BE UTILIZED AS UNMARKED OR UNDERCOVER 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

11 

 

VEHICLES; THE NUMBER OF SUCH VEHICLES TO BE PURCHASED TO BE 

DETERMINED BY THE FUNDS APPROPRIATED ANNUALLY, NOT TO EXCEED 

$120,000.00 FOR FY 2016 AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 

ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-11 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF ACME 

SUPPLY COMPANY, LTD, BOB BARKER COMPANY, INC., ICS JAIL SUPPLIES, 

INC., CAROLINA TEXTILES, CHARM-TEX, CORNERSTONE DETENTION 

PRODUCTS, INC., O.D. TARGIN & BROTHERS, LLC, AND VICTORY SUPPLY, INC. 

FOR ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING MARCH 20, 2016, 

THROUGH MARCH 19, 2017, FOR CLOTHING AND MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS FOR 

THE SHERIFFS OFFICE AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-12 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CONTINUATION CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT OF $278,600.00 TO PROVIDE 

CHILDHOOD IMMUNIZATION SERVICES IN HAMILTON COUNTY, FOR THE 

PERIOD OF JANUARY 1, 2016 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2016. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

12 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-13 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF CONTECH 

ENGINEERED SOLUTIONS, LLC, AND SHERMAN DIXIE CONCRETE INDUSTRIES, 

INC. FOR SIX (6) MONTHS CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING MARCH 7, 2016, 

THROUGH SEPTEMBER 6, 2016, FOR CONCRETE AND METAL CULVERT FOR 

THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 

SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-14 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF TNT 

CONCRETE, LLC FOR SIX (6) MONTHS CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING 

MARCH 7, 2016 THROUGH SEPTEMBER 6, 2016, FOR READY MIX CONCRETE 

FOR THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT, AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-15 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF MARTIN 

MARIETTA MATERIALS, VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY, AND DUNLAP STONE, 

INC. FOR SIX (6) MONTHS CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING MARCH 7, 2016, 

THROUGH SEPTEMBER 6, 2016, FOR CRUSHED STONE AND SAND FOR THE 

HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT, AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 

ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 316-16 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF TALLEY 

CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. DBA SOUTHEASTERN MATERIALS, INC., 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

13 

 

HUDSON MATERIALS COMPANY, BLACKLIDGE EMULSIONS, INC., DUNLAP 

STONE, INC. AND HIWASSEE PAVING, LLC. FOR SIX (6) MONTHS CONTRACT 

PRICING, BEGINNING MARCH 7, 2016, THROUGH SEPTEMBER 6, 2016, FOR 

ASPHALT ROAD MATERIALS AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 

ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 316-9 through 316-16 and stated that the Finance Committee 

reviewed and recommended approval. He asked that Sheriff Department’s items 

Resolution Nos. 316-9 through 316-11 and the Highway Department’s items Resolution 

Nos. 316-13 through 316-16 be considered together. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 316-9 through 316-11. The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total 

present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

14 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 316-12. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 316-13 through 316-16. The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total 

present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

15 

 

 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 

  

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission. 

 

Several Commissioners and the Mayor congratulated Commissioner Haynes for 

winning the republican nomination as Assessor of Property in yesterday’s primary. 

 

Commissioner Haynes reminded everyone that today is the annual March 2nd 

Read Across America Day.  

 

Commissioner Mackey spoke about the school system’s budget, low test scores, 

crime rates, and the excess classroom space not being used in his district. He 

encouraged the school system to raise test scores and use empty classroom space to 

better educate children. He invited everyone to attend a community forum regarding 

public schools at Orchard Knob Baptist Church, Thursday March 10th at 6:00 pm.  

 

 

Commissioner Graham and Commissioner Fields complimented Commissioner 

Haynes for running an honorable campaign.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

16 

 

 

Commissioner Boyd invited everyone to attend two community meetings 

regarding the Hamilton County Water and Wastewater Treatment Authority (WWTA). 

The first meeting will be co-hosted by Gene Shipley and Commissioner Fairbanks at 

Soddy Daisy City Hall, Thursday, March 10th at 6:30 pm. The second meeting will be co-

hosted by Howard Cotter, City of Red Bank representative to the WWTA board, at Red 

Bank Community Center, Thursday, March 31st at 6:30 pm.  

 

Commissioner Smedley announced that the Education Committee will be 

meeting in the adjacent commission conference room immediately after next week’s 

Agenda Session.  

 

Commissioner Beck addressed comments made during last week’s February 24th 

Agenda Session that centered around an article published in the Chattanooga Times 

Free Press on February 23rd. He commended Commissioner Smedley and Chairman 

Bankston for standing up and telling the truth. He reminded the Commission that public 

discussion took place December 9th, 2015 regarding the intent of the letter to uncouple 

the commissions pay from the county mayor’s pay (Resolution No. 1215-40).He 

encouraged members of the Commission to guard each man’s dignity, save each man’s 

pride, and work together as a team.     

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

17 

 

Commissioner Smedley thanked Chairman Bankston for taking a bold stand in 

the newspaper article defending the Commission. 

 

CLERK AND MASTER EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

 

Attorney Taylor indicated he had reviewed and approved amendments to the 

Clerk and Master’s Employee Handbook as required by law and submitted a copy for 

the record. 

  

Mayor Coppinger noted his support for Chattanooga 2.0 and thanked all the 

candidates and their families for participating in the primary election. He encouraged 

everyone to participate in the Read Across America, an annual reading motivation and 

awareness program that calls for every child in every community to celebrate reading on 

March 2, the birthday of beloved children’s author Dr. Seuss.  

 

The Mayor invited everyone to attend an open house at the Edney Innovation 

Center, this Thursday March 3rd, from 5:30 pm – 7:30 pm. The event is open to the 

public and provides the opportunity to tour the entire Innovation Center and meet 

current tenants.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 02, 2016 
 

18 

 

Chairman Bankston also congratulated Commissioner Haynes for winning the 

republican nomination for the Assessor’s office.  He also congratulated Judge Tom 

Greenholtz on winning the Hamilton County Criminal Court primary election.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 

 There being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting in 

recess until Wednesday, March 9, 2016 at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

      Respectfully submitted: 

 

 

      _____________________________________ 
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 
 
   

________  
Date  Clerk’s Initials 





No. 316-17 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, THE OATH OF DEPUTY 
COUNTY CLERK, AND THE OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS.  

 
 
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
“HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK” have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

person named on the attached listing labeled "OATH OF DEPUTY COUNTY 
CLERK" has taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled "OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS" have taken the oath of office. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants 
therefore; and 
 



 

 

2.  That persons listed on the “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY CLERK” relative to bonds given for the position of Notary Public are 
hereby approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the oaths therefor are 
approved as taken; and 

 
3. That the person named on the listing labeled “OATH OF DEPUTY COUNTY 

CLERK” is accepted and the oath therefore is approved as taken; and  
 

4. That the persons named on the listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS” are accepted and the oaths therefore are approved as taken; and 

 
5. That each such person named on the listings hereinabove mentioned (which 

listings are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby 
deemed to have been individually considered according to the particular matter 
relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 































































No. 316-18 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO REAPPOINT ONE (1) MEMBER TO THE PHASE II STORM 
WATER MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE FOR A FOUR (4) YEAR TERM BEGINNING 
APRIL 1, 2016 AND ENDING APRIL 1, 2020. 
 
WHEREAS,  Resolution 304-13 approved the Interlocal Agreement to implement Phase II of 

the Storm Water Pollution Control Program; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Interlocal Agreement established a Management Committee that will be 

responsible for the oversight of the Phase II Storm Water Program; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the County Mayor has reappointed County Engineer Todd Leamon to a term of 

four years, beginning April 1, 2016 and ending April 1, 2020. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the reappointment of County Engineer Todd Leamon to the Phase II Storm Water 
Management Committee is hereby confirmed for the term as stated above. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 316-19 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO CHATTANOOGA ROOM IN THE INN, 
INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 
DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Warren Mackey has expressed a desire to allocate One Thousand Dollars 

($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to Chattanooga Room in the Inn, 
Inc., to assist with their Children’s Enrichment Program; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
Chattanooga Room in the Inn, Inc., to assist with their Children’s Enrichment Program. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 









No. 316-20 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO CHURCHVILLE NEIGHBORHOOD 
ASSOCIATION, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($5,000.00) FROM 
GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Warren Mackey has expressed a desire to allocate Five Thousand Dollars 

($5,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to Churchville Neighborhood 
Association, Inc., to assist with youth development; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
Churchville Neighborhood Association, Inc., to assist with youth development. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 











No. 316-21 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ADDING ELEVATOR CONSULTING SERVICES AND TECHNOLOGY 
CONSULTING SERVICES TO THE LIST OF PROFESSIONAL, TECHNICAL, AND 
CONSULTANT SERVICES THAT MAY BE OBTAINED SUBJECT TO SECTION 4.2.4.K OF THE 
PURCHASING RULES FOR HAMILTON COUNTY. 
 
WHEREAS, State law and the Purchasing Rules for Hamilton County allow certain services to be 

obtained based upon recognized competency, integrity and skill. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the Board of County Commissioners hereby authorizes the addition of Elevator Consulting 
Services and Technology Consulting Services to the list of professional services that can be obtained 
pursuant to Section 4.2.4.K of the Purchasing Rules for Hamilton County. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 316-22 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT A FUNDING POLICY FOR THE HAMILTON COUNTY EMPLOYEES’ PENSION 
PLAN, THE HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSIONERS’ PENSION PLAN, AND THE HAMILTON COUNTY 
TEACHERS’ PENSION PLAN. 
 
WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8, Chapter 37, Part 3 and Title 9, Chapter 3 requires 

that all political subdivisions operating defined benefit pension plans that are 
managed outside of the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS) develop a 
funding policy for each such plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County maintains three defined benefit plans in addition to the pension 

plans that are managed by TCRS; and 
 
WHEREAS, the three such pension plans consist of the Hamilton County Employees’ Pension 

Plan, the Hamilton County Commissioners’ Pension Plan, and the Hamilton County 
Teachers’ Pension Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County has developed a Funding Policy for each of the three pension plans 

in accordance with State law. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the Funding Policies for the Hamilton County Employees’ Pension Plan, the Hamilton County 
Commissioners’ Pension Plan, and the Hamilton County Teachers’ Pension Plan, as attached as 
Exhibits A, B and C, respectively, to this resolution, incorporated herein by reference, are hereby 
adopted. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, 
THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



   

1 
 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Funding Policy 

Hamilton County Employees’ Pension Plan 

 

The Hamilton County Board of Commissioners hereby adopts this document as the defined 
benefit funding policy for the Hamilton County Employees’ Pension Plan. This document is 
prepared in accordance with Public Chapter 990, Acts of 2014. 

 

Preamble  

The intent of this funding policy is to establish a formal methodology for financing the pension 
obligations accruing under the Hamilton County Employees’ Pension Plan. The purpose of the 
methodology is to ensure that current assets plus future assets from employer contributions, 
employee contributions, and investment earnings will be sufficient to finance all defined benefit 
pension benefits provided by the Hamilton County Employees’ Pension Plan, including but not 
limited to death, disability and retirement benefits.  The funding policy is intended to reflect a 
reasonable and fiscally conservative approach with each generation of taxpayers financing, to the 
greatest extent possible, the cost of pension benefits being accrued.  This funding policy 
recognizes that there will be investment market place volatility and that actual economic and 
demographic experience will differ from assumed experience.  Accordingly, this funding policy 
is intended to provide flexibility to smooth such volatility and experience in a reasonable, 
systematic, and financially sound manner.  Further, it is the intent that this funding policy 
comply with all applicable federal and state laws, rules, and regulations.  

This funding policy is being adopted by the Board of Commissioners of Hamilton County, 
Tennessee in accordance with Chapter Number 990 of the Public Acts of 2014, and also in 
fulfilling its fiduciary duty.  Moreover, adoption of a funding policy is recommended by the 
Government Finance Officers Association and the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.   

 

Components of this Funding Policy  

1. The ADC (actuarially determined contributions) for the pension plan, which shall include 
the normal costs and the amortization of any unfunded accrued liability; 

2. The maximum amortization period; and  
3. A statement indicating that the political subdivision shall include at least one hundred 

percent (100%) funding of the ADC within its budget.   

 

 



   

2 
 

Actuarial Services  

Hamilton County shall obtain the services of an independent, qualified actuary who shall 
determine the ADC for its defined benefit pension plan.  The actuary shall be a member of the 
American Academy of Actuaries, shall not be a member of the Board of Commissioners of 
Hamilton County and shall not be otherwise eligible to participate in any of Hamilton County’s 
pension plans.   

Hamilton County shall acquire the services of a professional actuarial firm(s) to perform an 
actuarial experience study, an actuarial valuation, and other necessary actuarial services, 
including an actuarial audit if deemed appropriate. In the case in which an actuarial audit is 
appropriate, the actuarial firm that performs the actuarial audit shall not be the same firm that 
performs the actuarial valuation and the actuarial experience study.   The contractual agreement 
with an actuarial firm shall not exceed five (5) years.  The actuarial firm shall be independent 
and shall act as an advisor on actuarial matters on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee.   

The lead actuaries of actuarial firms shall have the requisite experience, capabilities, strengths, 
and qualifications including, but not limited to, the following:  
 

1. Member of the American Academy of Actuaries, 
2. Attainment of the Fellowship of the Society of Actuaries (FSA) designation, 
3. Attainment of the Enrolled Actuary (EA) designation, and 
4. At least seven (7) years of actuarial experience in the defined benefit field. 

 
 

Actuarial Experience Study  
An actuarial experience study shall be conducted on the Hamilton County Employees’ Pension 
Plan at least every two years beginning with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.  As determined 
necessary, assumptions may be evaluated on an interim basis. 

Assumptions adopted by Hamilton County, Tennessee should be established based on past 
experience and future expectations as the result of an extensive actuarial experience study. 

Demographic assumptions to be established include, but are not limited to, the following: 

1. Turnover pattern 
2. Pre-retirement mortality based on expected improvement in mortality  
3. Pattern of retirement 
4. Pattern of disability 
5. Post-retirement mortality 

 
Economic assumptions to be established include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

1. Investment earnings (net of investment expenses) (NOTE: the investment earnings 
assumption cannot exceed the rate adopted by TCRS by more than 50 basis points) 

2. Salary 
3. Retiree COLA 



   

3 
 

Economic assumptions shall include an underlying assumption for inflation. 

The actuarial experience study shall also generate administrative factors including, but not 
limited to, the following: (1) survivorship benefit option factors, (2) social security leveling 
option factors, (3) early retirement reduction factors, (4) age 65 actuarial equivalent factors, and 
(5) annuity factors.  These factors shall be determined on a cost neutral basis. 

 

Actuarial Valuation  

Valuation method and frequency.  An actuarial valuation to determine the “Actuarially 
Determined Contribution (ADC)” rate to finance pension obligations shall be performed every 
two years beginning as of June 30, 2015.  The valuation shall utilize the entry-age normal 
actuarial method.  The ADC shall include (1) the normal cost, (2) the unfunded liability cost, and 
(3) the cost of administration. The ADC shall be calculated and become applicable on July 1 of 
each year following the valuation date. 

Funding the ADC.  The ADC, as determined by an actuarial valuation, shall provide funding at a 
level of no less than 100%.   With respect to the obligations of Hamilton County, the Hamilton 
County budget shall include funding of at least 100% of the ADC.   

Asset smoothing method.  An asset smoothing method shall be utilized to determine the actuarial 
value of assets.  The difference between the amount actually earned and the earnings assumption 
for a particular year shall be amortized in level amounts.  The asset smoothing period shall be ten 
(10) years. However, there shall be a corridor so that the actuarial value of assets cannot be 20% 
more than nor 20% less than the market value of assets existing as of the actuarial valuation date. 

Amortization methodology for actuarial gains and losses.  Unfunded liabilities shall be 
amortized utilizing the level dollar amortization method over a closed period not to exceed 20 
years.  A tier approach will be utilized with new actuarial gains and losses from each actuarial 
valuation.  Each tier shall be amortized over a closed, maximum 20 year period.   The 
amortization period may be shortened or extended from valuation to valuation but the gains and 
losses for a specific tier must be completely amortized within 20 years.  Any extension of the 
amortization period for a specific tier cannot exceed the 20 year maximum less whatever time 
has elapsed from the beginning of the amortization period.   

The unfunded liability based on the 2015 actuarial valuation shall be funded no later than 2035.  
In subsequent actuarial valuations, new tiers of actuarial gains and losses where actual 
experience differed from assumed experience, changes in demographic and economic 
assumptions are made, and changes in benefit provisions are enacted shall be amortized over a 
closed period not to exceed 20 years. 
 
Demographic data.  The demographic data in an actuarial valuation shall include: (1) all active 
members, (2) all inactive vested members, (3) all inactive non-vested members with an account 
balance, and (4) all annuitants (including beneficiary annuitants and disability annuitants).   
 
Benefit provisions.  The actuarial valuation shall include all benefits being accrued by members 
of the Hamilton County Employees’ Retirement Plan including, but not limited to, retirement, 



   

4 
 

disability, death benefits, and post-employment cost-of-living adjustments (COLAs).  The 
valuation shall be based on the benefit eligibility and benefit terms as set out in state law. 

Assumptions utilized.  Demographic and economic assumptions as determined by an actuarial 
experience study and adopted by the Hamilton County shall be utilized in the actuarial valuation. 

 

Actuarial Audit (if appropriate) 

The Board of Commissioners of Hamilton County may choose at its discretion to contract for an 
actuarial audit. In such cases, the actuarial audit shall be conducted by an independent actuarial 
audit firm.  The purpose of the actuarial audit shall include, but not be limited to the following: 
(1) the validation and verification of actuarial valuation results for both funding and accounting; 
(2) an evaluation of the reasonableness of actuarial assumptions and methods; (3) compliance 
with professional standards such as generally accepted actuarial standards; and (4) compliance 
with state law and Board policy. 

 

Transparency and Accountability  

This funding policy, the actuarial experience study, the actuarial valuation, and the actuarial 
audit shall be readily available for review.  Accordingly, the funding policy shall be posted on 
the website of Hamilton County, Tennessee.  Further, the actuarial experience study, the 
actuarial valuation, and the actuarial audit, if conducted, shall be maintained on the departmental 
website for a period of no less than five years after being published. 

 

Filing of Funding Policy  

Pursuant to Public Chapter 990, Acts of 2014, this funding policy and any amendments thereafter 
shall be submitted to the Comptroller of the Treasury within thirty (30) days after adoption.  

 

Effective Date  

This policy shall remain in effect until amended by the Board of Commissioners of Hamilton 
County or preempted by federal or state law. 

 

  



   

1 
 

EXHIBIT B 

 

Funding Policy 

Hamilton County Commissioners’ Pension Plan 

 

The Hamilton County Board of Commissioners hereby adopts this document as the defined 
benefit funding policy for the Hamilton County Commissioners’ Pension Plan. This document is 
prepared in accordance with Public Chapter 990, Acts of 2014. 

 

Preamble  

The intent of this funding policy is to establish a formal methodology for financing the pension 
obligations accruing under the Hamilton County Commissioners’ Pension Plan. The purpose of 
the methodology is to ensure that current assets plus future assets from employer contributions, 
employee contributions, and investment earnings will be sufficient to finance all defined benefit 
pension benefits provided by the Hamilton County Commissioners’ Pension Plan, including but 
not limited to death, disability and retirement benefits.  The funding policy is intended to reflect 
a reasonable and fiscally conservative approach with each generation of taxpayers financing, to 
the greatest extent possible, the cost of pension benefits being accrued.  This funding policy 
recognizes that there will be investment market place volatility and that actual economic and 
demographic experience will differ from assumed experience.  Accordingly, this funding policy 
is intended to provide flexibility to smooth such volatility and experience in a reasonable, 
systematic, and financially sound manner.  Further, it is the intent that this funding policy 
comply with all applicable federal and state laws, rules, and regulations.  

This funding policy is being adopted by the Board of Commissioners of Hamilton County, 
Tennessee in accordance with Chapter Number 990 of the Public Acts of 2014, and also in 
fulfilling its fiduciary duty.  Moreover, adoption of a funding policy is recommended by the 
Government Finance Officers Association and the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.   

 

Components of this Funding Policy  

1. The ADC (actuarially determined contributions) for the pension plan, which shall include 
the normal costs and the amortization of any unfunded accrued liability; 

2. The maximum amortization period; and  
3. A statement indicating that the political subdivision shall include at least one hundred 

percent (100%) funding of the ADC within its budget.   

 

 



   

2 
 

Actuarial Services  

Hamilton County shall obtain the services of an independent, qualified actuary who shall 
determine the ADC for its defined benefit pension plan.  The actuary shall be a member of the 
American Academy of Actuaries, shall not be a member of the Board of Commissioners of 
Hamilton County and shall not be otherwise eligible to participate in any of Hamilton County’s 
pension plans.   

Hamilton County shall acquire the services of a professional actuarial firm(s) to perform an 
actuarial experience study, an actuarial valuation, and other necessary actuarial services, 
including an actuarial audit if deemed appropriate. In the case in which an actuarial audit is 
appropriate, the actuarial firm that performs the actuarial audit shall not be the same firm that 
performs the actuarial valuation and the actuarial experience study.   The contractual agreement 
with an actuarial firm shall not exceed five (5) years.  The actuarial firm shall be independent 
and shall act as an advisor on actuarial matters on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee.   

The lead actuaries of actuarial firms shall have the requisite experience, capabilities, strengths, 
and qualifications including, but not limited to, the following:  
 

1. Member of the American Academy of Actuaries, 
2. Attainment of the Fellowship of the Society of Actuaries (FSA) designation, 
3. Attainment of the Enrolled Actuary (EA) designation, and 
4. At least seven (7) years of actuarial experience in the defined benefit field. 

 
 

Actuarial Experience Study  
An actuarial experience study shall be conducted on the Hamilton County Commissioners’ 
Pension Plan at least every two years beginning with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.  As 
determined necessary, assumptions may be evaluated on an interim basis. 

Assumptions adopted by Hamilton County, Tennessee should be established based on past 
experience and future expectations as the result of an extensive actuarial experience study. 

Demographic assumptions to be established include, but are not limited to, the following: 

1. Turnover pattern 
2. Pre-retirement mortality based on expected improvement in mortality  
3. Pattern of retirement 
4. Pattern of disability 
5. Post-retirement mortality 

 
Economic assumptions to be established include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

1. Investment earnings (net of investment expenses) (NOTE: the investment earnings 
assumption cannot exceed the rate adopted by TCRS by more than 50 basis points) 

2. Salary 
3. Retiree COLA 



   

3 
 

Economic assumptions shall include an underlying assumption for inflation. 

The actuarial experience study shall also generate administrative factors including, but not 
limited to, the following: (1) survivorship benefit option factors, (2) social security leveling 
option factors, (3) early retirement reduction factors, (4) age 65 actuarial equivalent factors, and 
(5) annuity factors.  These factors shall be determined on a cost neutral basis. 

 

Actuarial Valuation  

Valuation method and frequency.  An actuarial valuation to determine the “Actuarially 
Determined Contribution (ADC)” rate to finance pension obligations shall be performed every 
two years beginning as of June 30, 2015.  The valuation shall utilize the entry-age normal 
actuarial method.  The ADC shall include (1) the normal cost, (2) the unfunded liability cost, and 
(3) the cost of administration. The ADC shall be calculated and become applicable on July 1 of 
each year following the valuation date. 

Funding the ADC.  The ADC, as determined by an actuarial valuation, shall provide funding at a 
level of no less than 100%.   With respect to the obligations of Hamilton County, the Hamilton 
County budget shall include funding of at least 100% of the ADC.   

Asset smoothing method.  An asset smoothing method shall be utilized to determine the actuarial 
value of assets.  The difference between the amount actually earned and the earnings assumption 
for a particular year shall be amortized in level amounts.  The asset smoothing period shall be ten 
(10) years. However, there shall be a corridor so that the actuarial value of assets cannot be 20% 
more than nor 20% less than the market value of assets existing as of the actuarial valuation date. 

Amortization methodology for actuarial gains and losses.  Unfunded liabilities shall be 
amortized utilizing the level dollar amortization method over a closed period not to exceed 20 
years.  A tier approach will be utilized with new actuarial gains and losses from each actuarial 
valuation.  Each tier shall be amortized over a closed, maximum 20 year period.   The 
amortization period may be shortened or extended from valuation to valuation but the gains and 
losses for a specific tier must be completely amortized within 20 years.  Any extension of the 
amortization period for a specific tier cannot exceed the 20 year maximum less whatever time 
has elapsed from the beginning of the amortization period.   

The unfunded liability based on the 2015 actuarial valuation shall be funded no later than 2035.  
In subsequent actuarial valuations, new tiers of actuarial gains and losses where actual 
experience differed from assumed experience, changes in demographic and economic 
assumptions are made, and changes in benefit provisions are enacted shall be amortized over a 
closed period not to exceed 20 years. 
 
Demographic data.  The demographic data in an actuarial valuation shall include: (1) all active 
members, (2) all inactive vested members, (3) all inactive non-vested members with an account 
balance, and (4) all annuitants (including beneficiary annuitants and disability annuitants).   
 
Benefit provisions.  The actuarial valuation shall include all benefits being accrued by members 
of the Hamilton County Commissioners’ Retirement Plan including, but not limited to, 



   

4 
 

retirement, disability, death benefits, and post-employment cost-of-living adjustments (COLAs).  
The valuation shall be based on the benefit eligibility and benefit terms as set out in state law. 

Assumptions utilized.  Demographic and economic assumptions as determined by an actuarial 
experience study and adopted by the Hamilton County shall be utilized in the actuarial valuation. 

 

Actuarial Audit (if appropriate) 

The Board of Commissioners of Hamilton County may choose at its discretion to contract for an 
actuarial audit. In such cases, the actuarial audit shall be conducted by an independent actuarial 
audit firm.  The purpose of the actuarial audit shall include, but not be limited to the following: 
(1) the validation and verification of actuarial valuation results for both funding and accounting; 
(2) an evaluation of the reasonableness of actuarial assumptions and methods; (3) compliance 
with professional standards such as generally accepted actuarial standards; and (4) compliance 
with state law and Board policy. 

 

Transparency and Accountability  

This funding policy, the actuarial experience study, the actuarial valuation, and the actuarial 
audit shall be readily available for review.  Accordingly, the funding policy shall be posted on 
the website of Hamilton County, Tennessee.  Further, the actuarial experience study, the 
actuarial valuation, and the actuarial audit, if conducted, shall be maintained on the departmental 
website for a period of no less than five years after being published. 

 

Filing of Funding Policy  

Pursuant to Public Chapter 990, Acts of 2014, this funding policy and any amendments thereafter 
shall be submitted to the Comptroller of the Treasury within thirty (30) days after adoption.  

 

Effective Date  

This policy shall remain in effect until amended by the Board of Commissioners of Hamilton 
County or preempted by federal or state law. 

 

  



   

1 
 

EXHIBIT C 

 

Funding Policy 

Hamilton County Teachers’ Pension Plan 

 

The Hamilton County Board of Commissioners hereby adopts this document as the defined 
benefit funding policy for the Hamilton County Teachers’ Pension Plan. This document is 
prepared in accordance with Public Chapter 990, Acts of 2014. 

 

Preamble  

The intent of this funding policy is to establish a formal methodology for financing the pension 
obligations accruing under the Hamilton County Teachers’ Pension Plan. The purpose of the 
methodology is to ensure that current assets plus future assets from employer contributions, 
employee contributions, and investment earnings will be sufficient to finance all defined benefit 
pension benefits provided by the Hamilton County Teachers’ Pension Plan, including but not 
limited to death, disability and retirement benefits.  The funding policy is intended to reflect a 
reasonable and fiscally conservative approach with each generation of taxpayers financing, to the 
greatest extent possible, the cost of pension benefits being accrued.  This funding policy 
recognizes that there will be investment market place volatility and that actual economic and 
demographic experience will differ from assumed experience.  Accordingly, this funding policy 
is intended to provide flexibility to smooth such volatility and experience in a reasonable, 
systematic, and financially sound manner.  Further, it is the intent that this funding policy 
comply with all applicable federal and state laws, rules, and regulations.  

This funding policy is being adopted by the Board of Commissioners of Hamilton County, 
Tennessee in accordance with Chapter Number 990 of the Public Acts of 2014, and also in 
fulfilling its fiduciary duty.  Moreover, adoption of a funding policy is recommended by the 
Government Finance Officers Association and the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.   

 

Components of this Funding Policy  

1. The ADC (actuarially determined contributions) for the pension plan, which shall include 
the normal costs and the amortization of any unfunded accrued liability; 

2. The maximum amortization period; and  
3. A statement indicating that the political subdivision shall include at least one hundred 

percent (100%) funding of the ADC within its budget.   

 

 



   

2 
 

Actuarial Services  

Hamilton County shall obtain the services of an independent, qualified actuary who shall 
determine the ADC for its defined benefit pension plan.  The actuary shall be a member of the 
American Academy of Actuaries, shall not be a member of the Board of Commissioners of 
Hamilton County and shall not be otherwise eligible to participate in any of Hamilton County’s 
pension plans.   

Hamilton County shall acquire the services of a professional actuarial firm(s) to perform an 
actuarial experience study, an actuarial valuation, and other necessary actuarial services, 
including an actuarial audit if deemed appropriate. In the case in which an actuarial audit is 
appropriate, the actuarial firm that performs the actuarial audit shall not be the same firm that 
performs the actuarial valuation and the actuarial experience study.   The contractual agreement 
with an actuarial firm shall not exceed five (5) years.  The actuarial firm shall be independent 
and shall act as an advisor on actuarial matters on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee.   

The lead actuaries of actuarial firms shall have the requisite experience, capabilities, strengths, 
and qualifications including, but not limited to, the following:  
 

1. Member of the American Academy of Actuaries, 
2. Attainment of the Fellowship of the Society of Actuaries (FSA) designation, 
3. Attainment of the Enrolled Actuary (EA) designation, and 
4. At least seven (7) years of actuarial experience in the defined benefit field. 

 
 

Actuarial Experience Study  
An actuarial experience study shall be conducted on the Hamilton County Teachers’ Pension 
Plan at least every two years beginning with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.  As determined 
necessary, assumptions may be evaluated on an interim basis. 

Assumptions adopted by Hamilton County, Tennessee should be established based on past 
experience and future expectations as the result of an extensive actuarial experience study. 

Demographic assumptions to be established include, but are not limited to, the following: 

1. Turnover pattern 
2. Pre-retirement mortality based on expected improvement in mortality  
3. Pattern of retirement 
4. Pattern of disability 
5. Post-retirement mortality 

 
Economic assumptions to be established include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

1. Investment earnings (net of investment expenses) (NOTE: the investment earnings 
assumption cannot exceed the rate adopted by TCRS by more than 50 basis points) 

2. Salary 
3. Retiree COLA 



   

3 
 

Economic assumptions shall include an underlying assumption for inflation. 

The actuarial experience study shall also generate administrative factors including, but not 
limited to, the following: (1) survivorship benefit option factors, (2) social security leveling 
option factors, (3) early retirement reduction factors, (4) age 65 actuarial equivalent factors, and 
(5) annuity factors.  These factors shall be determined on a cost neutral basis. 

 

Actuarial Valuation  

Valuation method and frequency.  An actuarial valuation to determine the “Actuarially 
Determined Contribution (ADC)” rate to finance pension obligations shall be performed every 
two years beginning as of June 30, 2015.  The valuation shall utilize the entry-age normal 
actuarial method.  The ADC shall include (1) the normal cost, (2) the unfunded liability cost, and 
(3) the cost of administration. The ADC shall be calculated and become applicable on July 1 of 
each year following the valuation date. 

Funding the ADC.  The ADC, as determined by an actuarial valuation, shall provide funding at a 
level of no less than 100%.   With respect to the obligations of Hamilton County, the Hamilton 
County budget shall include funding of at least 100% of the ADC.   

Asset smoothing method.  An asset smoothing method shall be utilized to determine the actuarial 
value of assets.  The difference between the amount actually earned and the earnings assumption 
for a particular year shall be amortized in level amounts.  The asset smoothing period shall be ten 
(10) years. However, there shall be a corridor so that the actuarial value of assets cannot be 20% 
more than nor 20% less than the market value of assets existing as of the actuarial valuation date. 

Amortization methodology for actuarial gains and losses.  Unfunded liabilities shall be 
amortized utilizing the level dollar amortization method over a closed period not to exceed 20 
years.  A tier approach will be utilized with new actuarial gains and losses from each actuarial 
valuation.  Each tier shall be amortized over a closed, maximum 20 year period.   The 
amortization period may be shortened or extended from valuation to valuation but the gains and 
losses for a specific tier must be completely amortized within 20 years.  Any extension of the 
amortization period for a specific tier cannot exceed the 20 year maximum less whatever time 
has elapsed from the beginning of the amortization period.   

The unfunded liability based on the 2015 actuarial valuation shall be funded no later than 2035.  
In subsequent actuarial valuations, new tiers of actuarial gains and losses where actual 
experience differed from assumed experience, changes in demographic and economic 
assumptions are made, and changes in benefit provisions are enacted shall be amortized over a 
closed period not to exceed 20 years. 
 
Demographic data.  The demographic data in an actuarial valuation shall include: (1) all active 
members, (2) all inactive vested members, (3) all inactive non-vested members with an account 
balance, and (4) all annuitants (including beneficiary annuitants and disability annuitants).   
 
Benefit provisions.  The actuarial valuation shall include all benefits being accrued by members 
of the Hamilton County Teachers’ Retirement Plan including, but not limited to, retirement, 



   

4 
 

disability, death benefits, and post-employment cost-of-living adjustments (COLAs).  The 
valuation shall be based on the benefit eligibility and benefit terms as set out in state law. 

Assumptions utilized.  Demographic and economic assumptions as determined by an actuarial 
experience study and adopted by the Hamilton County shall be utilized in the actuarial valuation. 

 

Actuarial Audit (if appropriate) 

The Board of Commissioners of Hamilton County may choose at its discretion to contract for an 
actuarial audit. In such cases, the actuarial audit shall be conducted by an independent actuarial 
audit firm.  The purpose of the actuarial audit shall include, but not be limited to the following: 
(1) the validation and verification of actuarial valuation results for both funding and accounting; 
(2) an evaluation of the reasonableness of actuarial assumptions and methods; (3) compliance 
with professional standards such as generally accepted actuarial standards; and (4) compliance 
with state law and Board policy. 

 

Transparency and Accountability  

This funding policy, the actuarial experience study, the actuarial valuation, and the actuarial 
audit shall be readily available for review.  Accordingly, the funding policy shall be posted on 
the website of Hamilton County, Tennessee.  Further, the actuarial experience study, the 
actuarial valuation, and the actuarial audit, if conducted, shall be maintained on the departmental 
website for a period of no less than five years after being published. 

 

Filing of Funding Policy  

Pursuant to Public Chapter 990, Acts of 2014, this funding policy and any amendments thereafter 
shall be submitted to the Comptroller of the Treasury within thirty (30) days after adoption.  

 

Effective Date  

This policy shall remain in effect until amended by the Board of Commissioners of Hamilton 
County or preempted by federal or state law. 



No. 316-23 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING HAMILTON COUNTY TO MAKE AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
TRANSFER TO THE STATE OF TENNESSEE’S TENNCARE PROGRAM IN ORDER TO SECURE 
ADDITIONAL FUNDING FROM THE STATE OF TENNESSEE’S PUBLIC HOSPITAL 
SUPPLEMENTAL PAYMENT POOL (“PHSPP”) FOR THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY 
HOSPITAL AUTHORITY (“ERLANGER”).   
 
WHEREAS, the TennCare Program as administered by the State of Tennessee has a financial pool of One 

Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000) known as the Public Hospital Supplemental Payment 
Pool (“PHSPP”), for the providing of health services to TennCare enrollees and uninsured 
patients being serviced by Metro Nashville General Hospital, Regional One Health at Memphis 
and the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Hospital Authority d/b/a Erlanger Health System 
(“Erlanger”); and 

 
WHEREAS, Erlanger’s participation in said pool requires Hamilton County (as a political subdivision of the 

State of Tennessee) to make an intergovernmental transfer from the County to the State of 
Tennessee’s TennCare Program in the amount of Nine Million Seven Hundred Eighty Two 
Thousand Two Hundred Sixty Five Dollars ($9,782,265) in order to secure Twenty Seven 
Million Nine Hundred Eighty Nine Thousand Three Hundred Twelve Dollars ($27,989,312) for 
Erlanger from the TennCare Program; and 

 
WHEREAS, an interlocal agreement was approved by this body in April 2014 by resolution number 414-31 

allowing such intergovernmental transfer; and 
 
WHEREAS, Erlanger shall tender to Hamilton County from Erlanger’s public  funds said required, Nine 

Million Seven Hundred Eighty Two Thousand Two Hundred Sixty Five Dollars ($9,782,265) 
and the County will then forward said sum as received from Erlanger to the State of 
Tennessee’s TennCare Program to be credited as Erlanger’s required contribution of the non-
federal share  of the said Twenty Seven Million Nine Hundred Eighty Nine Thousand Three 
Hundred Twelve Dollars ($27,989,312) in TennCare payments to Erlanger, and 

 
WHEREAS, this County Legislative Body deems this transaction to be in the best interest of the citizens of 

this County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Hamilton County is authorized to accept from Erlanger the sum of Nine Million Seven Hundred Eighty Two 
Thousand Two Hundred Sixty Five Dollars ($9,782,265) from the public  Erlanger funds, and to transmit same as 



 

 

received to the State of Tennessee’s Bureau of TennCare to be credited by same as the required contribution on 
behalf of Erlanger  to be used as the non-federal share of  Public Hospital Supplemental Payment Pool (“PHSPP”) 
payments to Erlanger in the amount of  Twenty Seven Million Nine Hundred Eighty Nine Thousand Three 
Hundred Twelve Dollars ($27,989,312) for  Erlanger’s uncompensated care of TennCare enrollees and uninsured 
patients. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 316-24 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                 (P.C. NO. 2016-014) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING APPROVAL OF A 
SPECIAL PERMIT FOR A CELL TOWER ON A 
TRACT OF LAND LOCATED AT 3375 CAMP 

ROAD 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Faulk & Foster c/o James L. Lapann & Johnson Parkers & Mary Florence 
petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to rezone from 
granting the approval of a Special Permit for a Cell Tower on a tract of land located at 3375 
Camp Road , and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be 
approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Faulk & Foster c/o James L. Lapann & Johnson Parkers & Mary Florence 
requested that the County Commission consider said petition and notice has been published 
in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will 
hold a public hearing on March 16, 2016, concerning the passage of this Resolution as 
required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended 
granting the approval of a Special Permit for a Cell Tower on a tract of land located at 3375 
Camp Road.  An unplatted tract of land located at 3375 Camp Road being a leased 100’ x 
100’ portion of the property described in Deed Book 5675, Page 142, ROHC.  Part of Tax 
Map 161-021 as shown on the attached map 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 316-25 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                  (P.C. NO. 2016-016) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT 
FOR A SHORT TERM VACATION RENTAL ON 
PROPERTY AT 719 SOUTH SCENIC HIGHWAY 

 
 
 WHEREAS, John Cameron/Jeri Arledge petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton 
County Regional Planning Commission to rezone from granting a Special Permit for a 
Short Term Vacation Rental on property at 719 South Scenic Highway, and said 
Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, John Cameron/Jeri Arledge requested that the County 
Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in 
general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public 
hearing on March 16, 2016, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by 
law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County 
be amended granting a Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental on property 
at 719 South Scenic Highway.  Lot 7, Amended Plat of Benham and Frazier’s 
Subdivision on Lookout Mountain, Plat Book 11, Page 43, ROHC, Deed Book 10624, 
Page 775, ROHC.  Tax Map 167A-H-003 as shown on the attached map 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 316-26 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                  P.C. NO. 2016-027) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM A-1 
AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT AND R-2 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO R-1 SINGLE 
FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 3015 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD 

ROAD 
 
 
 WHEREAS, McCoy Homes, Incorporated petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton 
County Regional Planning Commission to rezone from A-1 Agricultural District and R-
2 Residential District to R-1 Single Family Residential District, property located at 
3015 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing 
recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, McCoy Homes requested that the County Commission consider 
said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in 
Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on March 16, 
2016, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing 
having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County 
be amended to rezone from A-1 Agricultural District and R-2 Residential District to R-
1 Single Family Residential District, property located at 3015 Ooltewah-Ringgold 
Road. An unplatted tract of land located at 3015 Ooltewah Ringgold Road and being 
the property described in Deed Book 10644, Page 325, ROHC.  Tax Map 150-185 as 
shown on the attached map. 
 



 

 

 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 















No. 316-27 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 

 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE HAMILTON COUNTY 
ZONING REGULATIONS, ARTICLE VI, EXCEPTIONS, 
SECTION 400 SPECIAL PERMITS BY HAMILTON COUNTY 
COMMISSION, SUBSECTION 401.7, APPLICATION 
PROCEDURE FOR PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT BY 
DELETING ITEM “F(1)” THAT REFERENCES A SIXTY (60) 
MONTH EXPIRATION PERIOD AND CORRECT MINOR 
WORDING WITHIN REMAINING ITEMS B(2), E(1) AND F(3) 

  
 
 
 WHEREAS, there is a proposal to amend the Hamilton County Zoning Regulations 
and the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission has reviewed the 
proposed amendment and respectfully recommends to the County Mayor and Members of the 
County Commission that the following change to the Hamilton County Zoning Regulations be 
made; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission                                       
requested that the County Commission consider said petition and notice has been published 
in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will 
hold a public hearing on March 16, 2016, concerning the passage of this Resolution as 
required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended as 
follows: 
 

Subsection 401.7 Application Procedure for Planned Unit 
Development: 

 
Item “B(2)” :  
Change the minimum scale from one inch equals one hundred feet 

(1”=100’) to one inch equals two hundred feet (1”=200’). 



 

 

 
Item “F(1)” : 
DELETE in its entirety and renumber the remaining sub-items in numeric 

order. 
 
Item “E(1)” : 
Remove the word “active” from the last sentence. 
 
Item “F(3)”:   
Remove the words “expires or” from the first sentence. 

 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 





No. 316-28 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF PRATER FORD, INC. FOR ONE (1)  
CARGO VAN AMOUNTING TO $29,826.00 FOR THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
  
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) medium 

rooftop cargo van for the Sheriff’s Office; and, 
   
WHEREAS, the bid from Prater Ford, Inc. amounting to $29,826.00 was considered to be 

the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Prater Ford, Inc. for one (1) cargo van amounting to $29,826.00 for the 
Sheriff’s Office is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 































No. 316-29 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF KIESLER POLICE SUPPLY, INC. FOR 
TWENTY-THREE (23) BALLISTIC HELMETS AMOUNTING TO $20,244.14 FOR 
SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for twenty-three (23) 

FAST ballistic high cut (XP) helmets for the Sheriff’s Office; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Kiesler Police Supply, Inc. amounting to $20,244.14 was the 

only bid received, but said bid is deemed reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Kiesler Police Supply, Inc. for twenty-three (23) ballistic helmets amounting to 
$20,244.14 for the Sheriff’s Office is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid 
received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 

























No. 316-30 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE 
PERIOD OF FEBRUARY 1, 2016, THROUGH FEBRUARY 29, 2016, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department was authorized to make purchases of petroleum products 

on the open market; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the following purchases were made between February 1, 2016, through February 29, 

2016.  
 
 February 10, 2016, $7,058.99 for 8,576 gallons of E10 gasoline at 0.82311 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 February 11, 2016, $7,370.31 for 8,587 gallons of E10 gasoline at 0.85831 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 February 12, 2016, $508.16 for 176 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.5590 per 

gallon and 153 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.5280 per gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 February 17, 2016, $7,034.36 for 7,567 gallons of E10 gasoline at 0.92961 per gallon 

from Parman Lubricants.  
  
 February 19, 2016, $3,217.14 for 2,930 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.0980 

per gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 February 22, 2016, $7,104.32 for 7,952 gallons of E10 gasoline at 0.8934 per gallon 

from Sweetwater Valley Oil Company.  
  
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That the above purchases be ratified in the best interest of Hamilton County, and the County Mayor is 



 

 

authorized to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 







No. 316-31 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 
WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY AND THE TENNESSEE 
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY FOR A 2015 HOMELAND SECURITY 
GRANT WITH A PERIOD OF 09/01/2015 THROUGH 04/30/2018 AND AMENDING THE 
BUDGET OF THE EMERGENCY SERVICES DEPARTMENT BY ADDING $170,836.20 
TO REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES.                                                
 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County is receiving a $170,836.20 Federal Homeland Security grant 
through the State Department of Military: and, 
 
WHEREAS, the grant will serve emergency responders in the City of Chattanooga, Hamilton 
County and Homeland Security District 3: and,  
 
WHEREAS, no match is required; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the grant will fund equipment, training and supplies that will improve the 
ability of emergency responders to deal with acts of terrorism and catastrophic events; and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
The County Mayor is hereby authorized to execute a contract and any subsequent amendments 
with the Tennessee Department of Military for a 2015 Homeland Security grant with a period 
09/01/2015 through 04/30/2018, and the budget of the Emergency Services Department is 
amended by adding $170,836.20 to Revenues and Expenditures. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.     

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 















































No. 316-32 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 

 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING HAMILTON COUNTY MAYOR JIM M. 
COPPINGER TO APPLY TO THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION AND ACCEPT A LITTER PREVENTION AND 
TRASH COLLECTION GRANT IN THE AMOUNT OF $108,900 WITH A 
CONTRACT PERIOD BEGINNING JULY 1, 2016 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 
2017 

 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County will apply to TDOT for a grant in the amount of $108,900 for 

the prevention and collection of litter and trash in Hamilton County; and, 
 
WHEREAS, no matching funds are required to receive this grant, which has been previously 

budgeted; and, 
 
WHEREAS.  THE CONTRACT FOR THE Grant for FY 2016-2017 will impose certain 

legal obligations upon Hamilton County; and, 
 
WHEREAS, copies of all agreements and required reports stipulated in the grant contract 

will be kept on file in the Courts Community Service Program Office and will 
be available for public inspection during normal office hours;   

  
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

The Hamilton County Mayor Jim M. Coppinger is hereby authorized to apply 
for, accept, and sign a contract with the Tennessee Department of 
Transportation for a grant in the amount of $108,900 to provide litter and trash 
collection throughout Hamilton County with a contract period beginning July 1, 
2016 and ending June 30, 2017. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT AT AND 
FROM ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 



 

 

 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 316-33 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH 
SERVICES DIVISION AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CONTINUATION 
CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH FOR THE TIME PERIOD JULY 1, 2016 THROUGH JUNE 30, 
2017, IN THE  AMOUNT OF $230,000.00 TO PROVIDE FOR THE COORDINATION OF FETAL INFANT MORTALITY REVIEW 
AND COMMUNITY INFANT MORTALITY REDUCTION SERVICES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT 
OF HEALTH’S GUIDELINES.  
 
WHEREAS, the infant mortality rate of a community is one of the most predictive statistics of a community’s current and 

future health status, and 
   
WHEREAS, Tennessee’s infant mortality rate is one of the worst in the nation, and 
 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County’s 2014 Infant Mortality rate is 5.6 per 1,000 live births or 23 deaths, and 
 
WHEREAS,  the Fetal Infant Mortality Review (FIMR) process is a nationally recognized system to identify factors 

associated with fetal and infant deaths, determine if they represent service system problems that require 
change, develop recommendations for change, and assist in the implementation of change, and  

 
WHEREAS, the presence of FIMR appears to significantly improve a community’s performance of public health 

functions as well as enhance the existing perinatal care system’s goals, components and communication 
mechanisms, and 

  
WHEREAS, the focus of FIMR on systems of care and identifying gaps in care results in action being taken in a way that 

interpretation of vital statistics data alone does not necessarily promote, and 
 
WHEREAS FIMR is being implemented in over 200 communities in 40 states, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Tennessee Department of Health has identified funds to provide a FIMR and Community Infant 

Mortality Reduction process in Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
 That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract for the July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2017 

contract period in an amount of $230,000.00. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC 
WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



1-21-16 GG 

 

 

 
 

 

G O V E R N M E N T A L  G R AN T  C O N T R A C T  
(cost reimbursement grant contract with a federal or Tennessee local governmental entity or their 
agents and instrumentalities) 

Begin Date End Date Agency Tracking # Edison ID 

July 1, 2016 June 30, 2017 34347-33417       

Grantee Legal Entity Name Edison Vendor ID 

Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department   4208 

Subrecipient or Contractor CFDA # 

 Subrecipient   

 Contractor Grantee’s fiscal year end June 30 

Service Caption (one line only) 

Fetal Infant Mortality Review and Community Infant Mortality Reduction Services 

Funding — 

FY State Federal Interdepartmental Other TOTAL Grant Contract Amount 

2017        $230,000       $230,000 

                                   

                                   

                                   

                                   

TOTAL:        $230,000       $230,000 

 

Grantee Selection Process Summary 

 Competitive Selection 
 

 Non-competitive Selection The Grantee was chosen for its current capacity to perform all 
needed services, and its prior experience with Fetal Infant Mortality 
Review Services. 

Budget Officer Confirmation:  There is a balance in the 
appropriation from which obligations hereunder are 
required to be paid that is not already encumbered to pay 
other obligations. 

CPO USE - GG 

Speed Chart (optional) Account Code (optional)  

HL00008299 71301000  

 

 



9-14-15 GG 

 

1 

 

GRANT CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 
AND 

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 
 

This grant contract (“Grant Contract”), by and between the State of Tennessee, Tennessee Department 
of Health, hereinafter referred to as the “State” or the “Grantor State Agency” and Chattanooga-Hamilton 
County Health Department, hereinafter referred to as the “Grantee,” is for the provision of Fetal Infant 
Mortality Review and Community Infant Mortality Reduction services, as further defined in the "SCOPE 
OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES." 
 
Grantee Edison Vendor ID #  4208 
 
A. SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES: 
 
A.1. The Grantee shall provide the scope of services and deliverables (“Scope”) as required, 

described, and detailed in this Grant Contract. 
 
A.2. Service Definitions. 

 
a. “CAT” means Community Action Team. 
 
b. “CRT” means Case Review Team. 

 
c. “FIMR” means Fetal Infant Mortality Review. 

 
d. “FIMR process” is as set out in and authorized by Tennessee Code Annotated 68-142-              

201 et.seq. 
 

e. “National FIMR guidelines” are as described at (www.acog.org). 
 

A.3. Service Goals – FIMR. 
 
 a.  To enhance the health and well-being of women, infants and families by improving the                 

community resources and service delivery systems available to them. 
              
 b.  To eliminate disparities and decrease the rate of fetal and infant deaths in Tennessee.   
 
A.4. Service Recipients – FIMR.  Service recipients are women and families in the state of Tennessee 

who have experienced one (1) or more unexplained infant and/or fetal deaths. 
 
A.5. Service Description – FIMR. 

 
a. The Grantee shall monitor and maintain the security of statistics abstracted from 

interviews, medical records, autopsies, death certificates, health care facilities, providers 
and other sources.  Access to the databases will be strictly limited to designated FIMR 
users and hard copies of all files will be maintained in locked storage.  

 
b. The Grantee shall monitor and maintain the confidentiality of FIMR verbal and written 

communications.  All FIMR CRT and CAT volunteers will be required to sign an 
agreement to confidentiality, acknowledging the possible civil and criminal consequences 
of any breach of confidence.  FIMR committee meetings will not be subject to public 
meeting standards. 

 
c. The Grantee shall recruit members of two (2) teams assigned to complete the key 

components of the FIMR process in order to insure a diverse group of qualified 
professionals. The first team shall be labeled the FIMR CRT which has the responsibility 
of investigating and data gathering related to fetal and infant mortality.  The second team, 

http://www.acog.org/


1-21-16 GG 

 

2 

 

the FIMR CAT, composed of volunteer members and FIMR staff, will review CRT 
recommendations, prioritize identified issues and design and implement interventions to 
improve systems and resources. The CAT should implement a minimum of five (5) infant 
mortality reduction interventions during the contract period.  A listing of the respective 
team members and any changes, as they occur, shall be submitted to the State. 

 
d. The Grantee shall report factors to the State, related to the causes of fetal and infant 

deaths by the identification of social, economic, cultural, safety, health disparity, and 
other factors.  The Grantee will report factors to the State in an annual report to be 
submitted within forty-five (45) days following the end of the contract.   

 
e. The Grantee shall develop supportive partnerships and collaborations to support the 

infrastructure of a FIMR program, such as the March of Dimes, professional obstetrics 
and pediatric organizations, medical-based universities, community leaders, private 
businesses, children advocacy groups and other key stakeholders.   

 
f. The Grantee will attend the FIMR meeting that is held in Nashville annually. 
 
g. The Grantee will continue a pilot started the previous grant year to deliver 17- 

hydroxyprogesterone (17P) to eligible women in at least one clinical site/system in  
      their community. The pilot shall include: 

 
(1) Education of medical providers and clinic staff on the indications for use of 17P. 
(2) Systematic screening of all pregnant women to identify those potentially eligible 

for 17P 
(3) Provide women who are potentially eligible for 17P with basic educational 

information on the benefits of 17P and the need for further evaluation. 
(4) Referral of all pregnant women who are potentially eligible for 17P to an 

obstetrical provider for further evaluation. 
(5) Follow up of referred women to track: 

i. Number of referrals of appropriate candidate for 17P, 
ii. Number of candidates referred for 17P who actually received 17P, 
iii. Timing of first 17P dose including week of pregnancy and the time from 

the referral, 
iv. Adherence to 17P regimen by percent of eligible women with vaginal 

prescriptions filled or injection weeks received from the time of the 
referral,   

v. Collect and review 17P Pilot Project data, 
vi. Type of clinic visit referral was made (i.e. WIC, Family Planning, Clinic), 

and 
vii. Any other referrals (i.e. home visiting programs or WIC).  

(6) Pregnancy outcome for women referred for 17P including those who received 
and those who did not receive the medication. 

(7) Report to TDH on facilitators and barriers to successful project implementation. 
(8) This project will conclude once 100 women are systematically screened and 

follow-up on referrals for women who are potentially eligible is completed.  
 
A.6.  Service Reporting – FIMR.  
 

a. The Grantee shall submit to the State quarterly reports on progress toward the FIMR 
goals and objectives.  

 
b. The Grantee shall submit to the State an annual report forty-five (45) days after the end 

of the contract period.  Based on CAT recommendations, the annual report will include a 
minimum of five (5) strategies which the Grantee has implemented to improve health 
outcomes for women, infants and families as it relates to the identified causes of 
mortality. The report will include information related to the causes of fetal and infant 
deaths reviewed such as social economic, cultural, safety, health disparities and other 
factors.   



1-21-16 GG 

 

3 

 

 
A.7. Service Deliverables – FIMR.  
 

 
Deliverable Contract 

Section 

 
Delivery 

Date 
Due to 
Whom? 

 
Format 
Options 

Monitor and maintain the security of 
statistics  

A.5.a. On-going Not Applicable Not Applicable 

Monitor and maintain the confidentiality 
of FIMR verbal and written 
communications 

A.5.b. On-going Not Applicable To Be 
Determined 

Recruit members of two (2) teams as 
indicated and submit names to the 
State.  

A.5.c. On-going State Infant 
Mortality 
Director 

Word, pdf, Excel 

Report factors related to the causes of 
fetal and infant deaths. 

A.5.d. 45 days after 
the end of the 

contract 

State Infant 
Mortality 
Director 

Word, pdf, Excel 

Develop supportive partnerships and 
collaborations as indicated.   

A.5.e. On-going Grantee’s 
community 

To Be 
Determined  

Attend FIMR meeting in Nashville 
annually. 

A.5.f. To Be 
Determined  

Not Applicable In person 

Collect and review 17P Pilot Project 
data 

A.5.g. 45 days after 
the end of 

each quarter 

State Infant 
Mortality 
Director 

Electronically 

Submit quarterly FIMR report  A.6.a. 45 days after 
the end of 

each quarter 

State Infant 
Mortality 
Program 
Director 

Word, pdf, Excel 

 
A.8.   Service Goals-Community Infant Mortality Reduction. 
 

a.  To enhance the capacity of Hamilton County to reduce infant mortality and improve birth 
outcomes, including reducing the incidence of low birth weight and prematurity.         

 
b. To reduce infant mortality and improve birth outcomes. 
 
c. To reduce health disparities. 

 
A.9.   Service Recipients-Community Infant Mortality Reduction.  Service recipients are members of the 

community in Hamilton County. 
 
A.10.   Service Description-Community Infant Mortality Reduction. 
 
 a. The Grantee shall develop and implement a plan to reduce infant mortality and improve  
  birth outcomes in the community.  The plan shall align with one (1) or more elements of  
  the “Tennessee Public Health Strategic Plan to Improve Birth Outcomes and Reduce  
  Infant Mortality.” 

 
 b. The Grantee shall submit the plan to the State, along with any necessary budget   
  revisions, for approval by July 15, 2016. Upon approval, the plan shall be incorporated    
  as an addition to the Scope of Services. 
 
A.11.   Service Reporting – Community Infant Mortality Reduction.  The Grantee shall submit to the State 

quarterly reports on progress toward the goals and objectives outlined in the plan described in 
A.10.a.  The State and the Grantee will mutually agree upon the reporting format at the time that 
the plan is approved. 
 



1-21-16 GG 

 

4 

 

 
Deliverable Contract 

Section 

 
Delivery 

Date 
Due to 
Whom? 

 
Format 
Options 

Submit a plan to reduce infant mortality 
and improve birth outcomes in the 
community 

A.10.a. July 15, 
2016 

State Infant 
Mortality 
Program 
Director 

Electronically  

Implement a plan to reduce infant 
mortality and improve birth outcomes 
in the community 

A.10.a. After 
approval of 
Community 

Infant 
Mortality 

Reduction 
plan by the 

State 

Grantee’s 
Community  

To Be 
Determined 

Submit quarterly progress reports A.11. 45 days 
after the end 

of each 
quarter 

State Infant 
Mortality  
Program 
Director 

Electronically  

 
A.12. Inspection and Acceptance.  Acceptance of the work outlined above will be made by the State or 

its authorized representative through reports, teleconferences, site visits and/or other periodic 
reviews. The State will make the final determination concerning acceptance of the work 
performed under this Contract.  All “To Be Determined” instances mentioned in the document 
shall be proposed by the Grantee and accepted by the State. 

 
A.13. Incorporation of Additional Documents.  Each of the following documents is included as a part of 

this Grant Contract by reference or attachment. In the event of a discrepancy or ambiguity 
regarding the Grantee's duties, responsibilities, and performance hereunder, these items shall 
govern in order of precedence below. 
 
a. this Grant Contract document with any attachments or exhibits (excluding the items listed 

at subsection b. below); and 
 

 b. the Grantee’s most current approved Infant Mortality Plan based on one (1) or more 
 elements of the “Tennessee Public Health Strategic Plan to Improve Birth Outcomes and 
 Reduce Infant Mortality.” 

 
B. TERM OF CONTRACT: 
 
 This Grant Contract shall be effective on July 1, 2016 (“Effective Date”) and extend for a period of 

twelve (12) months after the Effective Date (“Term”).  The State shall have no obligation to the 
Grantee for fulfillment of the Scope outside the Term.  

 
C. PAYMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   
 
C.1. Maximum Liability. In no event shall the maximum liability of the State under this Grant Contract 

exceed Two Hundred Thirty Thousand Dollars ($230,000) (“Maximum Liability”).  The Grant 
Budget, attached and incorporated as Attachment 1 is the maximum amount due the Grantee 
under this Grant Contract.  The Grant Budget line-items include, but are not limited to, all 
applicable taxes, fees, overhead, and all other direct and indirect costs incurred or to be incurred 
by the Grantee. 

 
C.2. Compensation Firm. The Maximum Liability of the State is not subject to escalation for any 

reason unless amended.  The Grant Budget amounts are firm for the duration of the Grant 
Contract and are not subject to escalation for any reason unless amended, except as provided in 
Section C.6. 

 



1-21-16 GG 

 

5 

 

C.3. Payment Methodology.  The Grantee shall be reimbursed for actual, reasonable, and necessary 
costs based upon the Grant Budget, not to exceed the Maximum Liability established in Section 
C.1.  Upon progress toward the completion of the Scope, as described in Section A of this Grant 
Contract, the Grantee shall submit invoices (Attachment 2) prior to any reimbursement of 
allowable costs.   
 

C.4. Travel Compensation.  Reimbursement to the Grantee for travel, meals, or lodging shall be 
subject to amounts and limitations specified in the "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," as 
they are amended from time to time, and shall be contingent upon and limited by the Grant 
Budget funding for said reimbursement.   

 
C.5. Invoice Requirements. The Grantee shall invoice the State no more often than monthly, with all 

necessary supporting documentation, and present such to: 
 
 By email:  rachel.heitmann@tn.gov 

  
             By regular mail: 
 
             Rachel Heitmann, Program Director  

Fetal Infant Mortality Review (FIMR)  
             Division of Family Health and Wellness 
             Tennessee Department of Health 

8
th
 Floor, Andrew Johnson Tower 

710 James Robertson Parkway 
Nashville, Tennessee  37243 
 
a. Each invoice shall clearly and accurately detail all of the following required information 

(calculations must be extended and totaled correctly). 
 
(1) Invoice/Reference Number (assigned by the Grantee). 
(2) Invoice Date. 
(3) Invoice Period (to which the reimbursement request is applicable). 
(4) Grant Contract Number (assigned by the State).  
(5) Grantor:  Department of Health/Division of Family Health and Wellness.  
(6) Grantor Number (assigned by the Grantee to the above-referenced Grantor). 
(7) Grantee Name.  
(8) Grantee Tennessee Edison Registration ID Number Referenced in Preamble of 

this Grant Contract. 
(9) Grantee Remittance Address. 
(10) Grantee Contact for Invoice Questions (name, phone, or fax). 
(11) Itemization of Reimbursement Requested for the Invoice Period— it must detail, 

at minimum, all of the following:  
 
i. The amount requested by Grant Budget line-item (including any travel 

expenditure reimbursement requested and for which documentation and 
receipts, as required by "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," are 
attached to the invoice). 

ii. The amount reimbursed by Grant Budget line-item to date. 
iii. The total amount reimbursed under the Grant Contract to date.  
iv. The total amount requested (all line-items) for the Invoice Period. 
 

b. The Grantee understands and agrees to all of the following. 
 
(1) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall include only reimbursement requests 

for actual, reasonable, and necessary expenditures required in the delivery of 
service described by this Grant Contract and shall be subject to the Grant Budget 
and any other provision of this Grant Contract relating to allowable 
reimbursements.  

mailto:%20rachel.heitman@tn.gov


1-21-16 GG 

 

6 

 

(2) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall not include any reimbursement 
request for future expenditures. 

(3) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall initiate the timeframe for 
reimbursement only when the State is in receipt of the invoice, and the invoice 
meets the minimum requirements of this section C.5. 

              (4) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall be presented to the State within thirty 
(30) days after the end of the calendar month in which the subject costs were 
incurred or services were rendered by the Grantee.  An invoice submitted more 
than thirty (30) days after such date will NOT be paid.  The State will not deem 
such Grantee costs to be allowable and reimbursable by the State unless, at the 
sole discretion of the State, the failure to submit a timely invoice is warranted.  
The Grantee shall submit a special, written request for reimbursement with any 
such untimely invoice.  The request must detail the reason the invoice is untimely 
as well as the Grantee’s plan for submitting future invoices as required, and it 
must be signed by a Grantee agent that would be authorized to sign this Grant 
Contract. 

 
C.6. Budget Line-items.  Expenditures, reimbursements, and payments under this Grant Contract shall 

adhere to the Grant Budget.  The Grantee may move up to twenty percent (20%) of a line-item 
amount to another line item category provided that any increase is off-set by an equal reduction 
of other line-item amount(s) and the total Grant Contract amount detailed by the Grant Budget 
does not increase.  An increase of any line item funded at zero dollars ($0.00) shall require prior 
approval of the Grantor State Agency. 

 
C.7. Disbursement Reconciliation and Close Out.  The Grantee shall submit a grant disbursement 

reconciliation report within thirty (30) days following the end of each quarter and a final invoice 
and final grant disbursement reconciliation report within forty-five (45) days of the Grant Contract 
end date and in form and substance acceptable to the State (Attachment 3). 

 
a. If total disbursements by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract exceed the amounts 

permitted by the section C, payment terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the 
Grantee shall refund the difference to the State.  The Grantee shall submit the refund 
with the final grant disbursement reconciliation report. 

 
b. The State shall not be responsible for the payment of any invoice submitted to the State 

after the grant disbursement reconciliation report.  The State will not deem any Grantee 
costs submitted for reimbursement after the grant disbursement reconciliation report to 
be allowable and reimbursable by the State, and such invoices will NOT be paid. 

 
c. The Grantee’s failure to provide a final grant disbursement reconciliation report to the 

State as required by this Grant Contract shall result in the Grantee being deemed 
ineligible for reimbursement under this Grant Contract, and the Grantee shall be required 
to refund any and all payments by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract. 

 
d. The Grantee must close out its accounting records at the end of the Term in such a way 

that reimbursable expenditures and revenue collections are NOT carried forward. 
 

C.8. Indirect Cost.  Should the Grantee request reimbursement for indirect costs, the Grantee must 
submit to the State a copy of the indirect cost rate approved by the cognizant federal agency or 
the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  The Grantee will be reimbursed for indirect costs in 
accordance with the approved indirect cost rate and amounts and limitations specified in the 
attached Grant Budget.  Once the Grantee makes an election and treats a given cost as direct or 
indirect, it must apply that treatment consistently and may not change during the Term.  Any 
changes in the approved indirect cost rate must have prior approval of the cognizant federal 
agency or the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  If the indirect cost rate is provisional during 
the Term, once the rate becomes final, the Grantee agrees to remit any overpayment of funds to 
the State, and subject to the availability of funds the State agrees to remit any underpayment to 
the Grantee. 

 



1-21-16 GG 

 

7 

 

C.9. Cost Allocation.  If any part of the costs to be reimbursed under this Grant Contract are joint costs 
involving allocation to more than one program or activity, such costs shall be allocated and 
reported in accordance with the provisions of Department of Finance and Administration Policy 
Statement 03 or any amendments or revisions made to this policy statement during the Term. 

 
C.10. Payment of Invoice.  A payment by the State shall not prejudice the State's right to object to or 

question any reimbursement, invoice, or related matter.  A payment by the State shall not be 
construed as acceptance of any part of the work or service provided or as approval of any 
amount as an allowable cost.   

 
C.11. Non-allowable Costs.  Any amounts payable to the Grantee shall be subject to reduction for 

amounts included in any invoice or payment that are determined by the State, on the basis of 
audits or monitoring conducted in accordance with the terms of this Grant Contract, to constitute 
unallowable costs.   

 
C.12. State’s Right to Set Off.  The State reserves the right to set off or deduct from amounts that are or 

shall become due and payable to the Grantee under this Grant Contract or under any other 
agreement between the Grantee and the State of Tennessee under which the Grantee has a right 
to receive payment from the State. 

 
C.13. Prerequisite Documentation.  The Grantee shall not invoice the State under this Grant Contract 

until the State has received the following, properly completed documentation.   
 

a. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State an "Authorization Agreement 
for Automatic Deposit (ACH Credits) Form" provided by the State.  By doing so, the 
Grantee acknowledges and agrees that, once this form is received by the State, all 
payments to the Grantee under this or any other grant contract will be made by 
automated clearing house (“ACH”). 

 
b. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State the State-provided W-9 form.  

The taxpayer identification number on the W-9 form must be the same as the Grantee’s 
Federal Employer Identification Number or Social Security Number referenced in the 
Grantee’s Edison registration information.  

 
D. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
D.1. Required Approvals.  The State is not bound by this Grant Contract until it is signed by the parties 

and approved by appropriate officials in accordance with applicable Tennessee laws and 
regulations (depending upon the specifics of this Grant Contract, the officials may include, but are 
not limited to, the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human 
Resources, and the Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.2. Modification and Amendment.  This Grant Contract may be modified only by a written amendment 

signed by all parties and approved by the officials who approved the Grant Contract and, 
depending upon the specifics of the Grant Contract as amended, any additional officials required 
by Tennessee laws and regulations (the officials may include, but are not limited to, the 
Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human Resources, and the 
Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.3. Termination for Convenience.  The State may terminate this Grant Contract without cause for any 

reason.  A termination for convenience shall not be a breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  
The State shall give the Grantee at least thirty (30) days written notice before the effective 
termination date.  The Grantee shall be entitled to compensation for authorized expenditures and 
satisfactory services completed as of the termination date, but in no event shall the State be liable 
to the Grantee for compensation for any service that has not been rendered.  The final decision 
as to the amount for which the State is liable shall be determined by the State.   The Grantee 
shall not have any right to any actual general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other 
damages whatsoever of any description or amount for the State’s exercise of its right to terminate 
for convenience.  



1-21-16 GG 

 

8 

 

 
D.4. Termination for Cause.  If the Grantee fails to properly perform its obligations under this Grant 

Contract, or if the Grantee violates any terms of this Grant Contract, the State shall have the right 
to immediately terminate this Grant Contract and withhold payments in excess of fair 
compensation for completed services.  Notwithstanding the exercise of the State’s right to 
terminate this Grant Contract for cause, the Grantee shall not be relieved of liability to the State 
for damages sustained by virtue of any breach of this Grant Contract by the Grantee. 

 
D.5. Subcontracting.  The Grantee shall not assign this Grant Contract or enter into a subcontract for 

any of the services performed under this Grant Contract without obtaining the prior written 
approval of the State.  If such subcontracts are approved by the State, each shall contain, at a 
minimum, sections of this Grant Contract pertaining to "Conflicts of Interest," “Lobbying,” 
"Nondiscrimination," “Public Accountability,” “Public Notice,” and “Records" (as identified by the 
section headings).  Notwithstanding any use of approved subcontractors, the Grantee shall 
remain responsible for all work performed. 

 
D.6. Conflicts of Interest.  The Grantee warrants that no part of the total Grant Contract Amount shall 

be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of Tennessee as wages, 
compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or 
consultant to the Grantee in connection with any work contemplated or performed relative to this 
Grant Contract.   

 
D.7. Lobbying.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that:  
 

a. No federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal 
contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering into 
of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or 
modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

 
b. If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 

person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the 
Grantee shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure of Lobbying 
Activities,'' in accordance with its instructions. 

 
c. The Grantee shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 

documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and 
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients 
shall certify and disclose accordingly.   

 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into and is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. 

 
D.8. Communications and Contacts.  All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other 

communications required or contemplated by this Grant Contract shall be in writing and shall be 
made by certified, first class mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, by overnight 
courier service with an asset tracking system, or by email or facsimile transmission with recipient 
confirmation.  All communications, regardless of method of transmission, shall be addressed to 
the respective party as set out below:   
 

  
 
 



1-21-16 GG 

 

9 

 

 The State: 
 
Rachel Heitmann, Senior Director of Injury and Violence Prevention 
Fetal Infant Mortality Review Program 
Tennessee Department of Health 

 Andrew Johnson Tower, 8
th
 Floor 

710 James Robertson Parkway 
 Nashville, TN 37243 

Email Address: Rachel.Heitmann@tn.gov  
 Telephone # 615-741-0368 

FAX # 615-741-1063 
 
The Grantee: 
 
Rebekah Barnes, Administrator 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department 
921 East Third Street 

 Chattanooga, TN 37403 
 Email Address: BeckyB@hamiltontn.gov  

Telephone #  423-209-8000 
FAX #  423-209-8001 
 
A change to the above contact information requires written notice to the person designated by the 
other party to receive notice.    

 
All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other communications shall be considered 
effectively given upon receipt or recipient confirmation as may be required. 

 
D.9. Subject to Funds Availability.  This Grant Contract is subject to the appropriation and availability 

of State or Federal funds.  In the event that the funds are not appropriated or are otherwise 
unavailable, the State reserves the right to terminate this Grant Contract upon written notice to 
the Grantee.  The State’s right to terminate this Grant Contract due to lack of funds is not a 
breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  Upon receipt of the written notice, the Grantee shall 
cease all work associated with the Grant Contract.  Should such an event occur, the Grantee 
shall be entitled to compensation for all satisfactory and authorized services completed as of the 
termination date.  Upon such termination, the Grantee shall have no right to recover from the 
State any actual, general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other damages whatsoever of 
any description or amount. 

 
D.10. Nondiscrimination.  The Grantee hereby agrees, warrants, and assures that no person shall be 

excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination 
in the performance of this Grant Contract or in the employment practices of the Grantee on the 
grounds of handicap or disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other 
classification protected by federal, Tennessee state constitutional, or statutory law.  The Grantee 
shall, upon request, show proof of nondiscrimination and shall post in conspicuous places, 
available to all employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination. 

 
D.11. HIPAA Compliance.  The State and the Grantee shall comply with obligations under the Health 

Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), Health Information Technology for 
Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH) and any other relevant laws and regulations 
regarding privacy (collectively the “Privacy Rules”).  The obligations set forth in this Section shall 
survive the termination of this Grant Contract.  

 
a. The Grantee warrants to the State that it is familiar with the requirements of the Privacy 

Rules and will comply with all applicable HIPAA requirements in the course of this Grant 
Contract. 

 
b. The Grantee warrants that it will cooperate with the State, including cooperation and 

coordination with State privacy officials and other compliance officers required by the 

mailto:Rachel.Heitmann@tn.gov
mailto:BeckyB@hamiltontn.gov


1-21-16 GG 

 

10 

 

Privacy Rules, in the course of performance of this  Grant Contract so that both parties 
will be in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  

 
c. The State and the Grantee will sign documents, including but not limited to business 

associate agreements, as required by the Privacy Rules and that are reasonably 
necessary to keep the State and the Grantee in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  This 
provision shall not apply if information received by the State under this Grant Contract is 
NOT “protected health information” as defined by the Privacy Rules, or if the Privacy 
Rules permit the State to receive such information without entering into a business 
associate agreement or signing another such document. 

 
D.12. Public Accountability.  If the Grantee is subject to Tenn. Code Ann. § 8-4-401 et seq., or if this 

Grant Contract involves the provision of services to citizens by the Grantee on behalf of the State, 
the Grantee agrees to establish a system through which recipients of services may present 
grievances about the operation of the service program. The Grantee shall also display in a 
prominent place, located near the passageway through which the public enters in order to receive 
Grant supported services, a sign at least eleven inches (11") in height and seventeen inches (17") 
in width stating: 
 
NOTICE:  THIS AGENCY IS A RECIPIENT OF TAXPAYER FUNDING. IF YOU OBSERVE AN 
AGENCY DIRECTOR OR EMPLOYEE ENGAGING IN ANY ACTIVITY WHICH YOU CONSIDER 
TO BE ILLEGAL, IMPROPER, OR WASTEFUL, PLEASE CALL THE STATE COMPTROLLER’S 
TOLL-FREE HOTLINE:  1-800-232-5454. 

 
 The sign shall be on the form prescribed by the Comptroller of the Treasury.  The Grantor State 

Agency shall obtain copies of the sign from the Comptroller of the Treasury, and upon request 
from the Grantee, provide Grantee with any necessary signs. 

 
D.13. Public Notice.  All notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, research reports, signs, and 

similar public notices prepared and released by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall 
include the statement, “This project is funded under a grant contract with the State of 
Tennessee.”  All notices by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall be approved by the 
State. 

 
D.14. Licensure.  The Grantee,  its employees, and any approved subcontractor shall be licensed 

pursuant to all applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations and 
shall upon request provide proof of all licenses. 

 
D.15. Records.  The Grantee and any approved subcontractor shall maintain documentation for all 

charges under this Grant Contract.  The books, records, and documents of the Grantee and any 
approved subcontractor, insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under this 
Grant Contract, shall be maintained in accordance with applicable Tennessee law.  In no case 
shall the records be maintained for a period of less than five (5) full years from the date of the 
final payment.  The Grantee’s records shall be subject to audit at any reasonable time and upon 
reasonable notice by the Grantor State Agency, the Comptroller of the Treasury, or their duly 
appointed representatives.   

 The records shall be maintained in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
 (GASB) Accounting Standards or the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting 
 Standards Codification, as applicable, and any related AICPA Industry Audit and Accounting 
 guides.   

 In addition, documentation of grant applications, budgets, reports, awards, and expenditures will 
 be maintained in accordance with U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform 
 Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. 

 Grant expenditures shall be made in accordance with local government purchasing policies and 
 procedures and purchasing procedures for local governments authorized under state law. 

 The Grantee shall also comply with any recordkeeping and reporting requirements prescribed by 
 the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. 



1-21-16 GG 

 

11 

 

 The Grantee shall establish a system of internal controls that utilize the COSO Internal Control - 
 Integrated Framework model as the basic foundation for the internal control system.  The Grantee 
 shall incorporate any additional Comptroller of the Treasury directives into its internal control 
 system. 

 Any other required records or reports which are not contemplated in the above standards shall 
 follow the format designated by the head of the Grantor State Agency, the Central Procurement 
 Office, or the Commissioner of Finance and Administration of the State of Tennessee. 

D.16. Monitoring.  The Grantee’s activities conducted and records maintained pursuant to this Grant 
Contract shall be subject to monitoring and evaluation by the State, the Comptroller of the 
Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives. 

 
D.17. Progress Reports.  The Grantee shall submit brief, periodic, progress reports to the State as 

requested. 
 
D.18. Annual and Final Reports.  The Grantee shall submit, within three (3) months of the conclusion of 

each year of the Term, an annual report. For grant contracts with a term of less than one (1) year, 
the Grantee shall submit a final report within three (3) months of the conclusion of the Term. For 
grant contracts with multiyear terms, the final report will take the place of the annual report for the 
final year of the Term. The Grantee shall submit annual and final reports to the Grantor State 
Agency and the Department of Finance and Administration (“F&A”).  Send electronic copies of 
annual and final reports to F&A at fa.audit@tn.gov.  At minimum, annual and final reports shall 
include: (a) the Grantee’s name; (b) the Grant Contract’s Edison identification number, Term, and 
total amount; (c) a narrative section that describes the program’s goals, outcomes, successes 
and setbacks, whether the Grantee used benchmarks or indicators to determine progress, and 
whether any proposed activities were not completed; and (d) other relevant details requested by 
the Grantor State Agency. Annual and final report documents to be completed by the Grantee 
shall appear on the Grantor State Agency’s website or as an attachment to the Grant Contract 
(Attachment 4).       

 
D.19. Audit Report. The Grantee shall be audited in accordance with applicable Tennessee law. 

 If the Grantee is subject to an audit under this provision, then the Grantee shall complete 
Attachment 5.   

 When a federal single audit is required, the audit shall be performed in accordance with U.S. 
Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards.  

 A copy of the audit report shall be provided to the Comptroller by the licensed, independent public 
accountant. Audit reports shall be made available to the public. 

 
D.20. Procurement. If other terms of this Grant Contract allow reimbursement for the cost of goods, 

materials, supplies, equipment, motor vehicles, or contracted services, procurements by the 
Grantee shall be competitive where practicable.  For any procurement for which reimbursement is 
paid under this Grant Contract, the Grantee shall document the competitive procurement method. 
In each instance where it is determined that use of a competitive procurement method is not 
practicable, supporting documentation shall include a written justification for the decision and for 
the use of a non-competitive procurement.  If the Grantee is a subrecipient, the Grantee shall 
comply with 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.318—200.326 when procuring property and services under a federal 
award. 
 
The Grantee shall obtain prior approval from the State before purchasing any equipment or motor 
vehicles under this Grant Contract. 

 
D.21. Strict Performance.  Failure by any party to this Grant Contract to insist in any one or more cases 

upon the strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, or provisions of this Grant 
Contract is not a waiver or relinquishment of any term, covenant, condition, or provision. No term 
or condition of this Grant Contract shall be held to be waived, modified, or deleted except by a 
written amendment signed by the parties. 

mailto:fa.audit@tn.gov


1-21-16 GG 

 

12 

 

 
D.22. Independent Contractor.  The parties shall not act as employees, partners, joint venturers, or 

associates of one another in the performance of this Grant Contract.  The parties acknowledge 
that they are independent contracting entities and that nothing in this Grant Contract shall be 
construed to create a principal/agent relationship or to allow either to exercise control or direction 
over the manner or method by which the other transacts its business affairs or provides its usual 
services.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be deemed or construed to be the 
employees or agents of the other party for any purpose whatsoever.  
 

D.23. State Liability.  The State shall have no liability except as specifically provided in this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.24. Force Majeure.  “Force Majeure Event” means fire, flood, earthquake, elements of nature or acts 

of God, wars, riots, civil disorders, rebellions or revolutions, acts of terrorism or any other similar 
cause beyond the reasonable control of the party except to the extent that the non-performing 
party is at fault in failing to prevent or causing the default or delay, and provided that the default 
or delay cannot reasonably be circumvented by the non-performing party through the use of 
alternate sources, workaround plans or other means.  A strike, lockout or labor dispute shall not 
excuse either party from its obligations under this Grant Contract.  Except as set forth in this 
Section, any failure or delay by a party in the performance of its obligations under this Grant 
Contract arising from a Force Majeure Event is not a default under this Grant Contract or grounds 
for termination.  The non-performing party will be excused from performing those obligations 
directly affected by the Force Majeure Event, and only for as long as the Force Majeure Event 
continues, provided that the party continues to use diligent, good faith efforts to resume 
performance without delay.  The occurrence of a Force Majeure Event affecting Grantee’s 
representatives, suppliers, subcontractors, customers or business apart from this Grant Contract 
is not a Force Majeure Event under this Grant Contract.  Grantee will promptly notify the State of 
any delay caused by a Force Majeure Event (to be confirmed in a written notice to the State 
within one (1) day of the inception of the delay) that a Force Majeure Event has occurred, and will 
describe in reasonable detail the nature of the Force Majeure Event.  If any Force Majeure Event 
results in a delay in Grantee’s performance longer than forty-eight (48) hours, the State may, 
upon notice to Grantee: (a) cease payment of the fees until Grantee resumes performance of the 
affected obligations; or (b) immediately terminate this Grant Contract or any purchase order, in 
whole or in part, without further payment except for fees then due and payable.  Grantee will not 
increase its charges under this Grant Contract or charge the State any fees other than those 
provided for in this Grant Contract as the result of a Force Majeure Event. 

 
D.25. Tennessee Department of Revenue Registration.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable 

registration requirements contained in Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 67-6-601 – 608.  Compliance with 
applicable registration requirements is a material requirement of this Grant Contract. 

 
D.26. Charges to Service Recipients Prohibited.  The Grantee shall not collect any amount in the form 

of fees or reimbursements from the recipients of any service provided pursuant to this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.27. No  Acquisition of Equipment or Motor Vehicles.  This Grant Contract does not involve the 

acquisition and disposition of equipment or motor vehicles acquired with funds provided under 
this Grant Contract. 

 
D.28. State and Federal Compliance.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable state and federal 

laws and regulations in the performance of this Grant Contract. The U.S. Office of Management 
and Budget’s Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards is available here: http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-
idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl   

 
D.29. Governing Law.  This Grant Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Tennessee.  The Grantee agrees that it will be subject to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Tennessee in actions that may arise under this Grant 
Contract.  The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that any rights or claims against the State of 

http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl


1-21-16 GG 

 

13 

 

Tennessee or its employees hereunder, and any remedies arising there from, shall be subject to 
and limited to those rights and remedies, if any, available under Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 9-8-101 
through 9-8-407. 

 
D.30. Completeness.  This Grant Contract is complete and contains the entire understanding between 

the parties relating to the subject matter contained herein, including all the terms and conditions 
agreed to by the parties.  This Grant Contract supersedes any and all prior understandings, 
representations, negotiations, or agreements between the parties, whether written or oral. 

 
D.31. Severability.  If any terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are held to be invalid or 

unenforceable as a matter of law, the other terms and conditions shall not be affected and shall 
remain in full force and effect.  To this end, the terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are 
declared severable. 

 
D.32. Headings.  Section headings are for reference purposes only and shall not be construed as part 

of this Grant Contract. 
 
E. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  
 
E.1. Conflicting Terms and Conditions.  Should any of these special terms and conditions conflict with 

any other terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the special terms and conditions shall be 
subordinate to the Grant Contract’s other terms and conditions. 

 
E.2. Debarment and Suspension.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it, 

its current and future principals, its current and future subcontractors and their principals: 
 

a. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any federal or state department or 
agency; 

 
b. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract been convicted of, 

or had a civil judgment rendered against them from commission of fraud, or a criminal 
offence in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (federal, 
state, or local) transaction or grant under a public transaction; violation of federal or state 
antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification, or 
destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 

 
c. are not presently indicted or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity 

(federal, state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses detailed in section b. of 
this certification;  and 

 
d. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract had one or more 

public transactions (federal, state, or local) terminated for cause or default. 
 

 The Grantee shall provide immediate written notice to the State if at any time it learns that there 
was an earlier failure to disclose information or that due to changed circumstances, its principals 
or the principals of its subcontractors are excluded or disqualified. 

 
E.3.  Confidentiality of Records.  Strict standards of confidentiality of records and information shall be 

maintained in accordance with applicable state and federal law.  All material and information, 
regardless of form, medium or method of communication, provided to the Grantee by the State or 
acquired by the Grantee on behalf of the State that is regarded as confidential under state or 
federal law shall be regarded as “Confidential Information.”  Nothing in this Section shall permit 
Grantee to disclose any Confidential Information, regardless of whether it has been disclosed or 
made available to the Grantee due to intentional or negligent actions or inactions of agents of the 
State or third parties.  Confidential Information shall not be disclosed except as required or 
permitted under state or federal law.  Grantee shall take all necessary steps to safeguard the 
confidentiality of such material or information in conformance with applicable state and federal 
law.    



1-21-16 GG 

 

14 

 

              
             The obligations set forth in this Section shall survive the termination of this Grant Contract. 
 
E.4. Printing Authorization.  The Grantee agrees that no publication coming within the jurisdiction of 

Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-7-101, et seq., shall be printed pursuant to this Grant Contract unless a 
printing authorization number has been obtained and affixed as required by Tenn. Code Ann. § 
12-7-103(d). 

 

E.5. Environmental Tobacco Smoke.  Pursuant to the provisions of the federal “Pro-Children Act of 
1994” and the “Children’s Act for Clean Indoor Air of 1995,” Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 39-17-1601 
through 1606, the Grantee shall prohibit smoking of tobacco products within any indoor premises 
in which services are provided to individuals under the age of eighteen (18) years.  The Grantee 
shall post “no smoking” signs in appropriate, permanent sites within such premises.  This 
prohibition shall be applicable during all hours, not just the hours in which children are present.  
Violators of the prohibition may be subject to civil penalties and fines.  This prohibition shall apply 
to and be made part of any subcontract related to this Grant Contract. 

 

E.6. Health Care Data.  Grantee shall provide data reports about health care services provided under 
this Grant using the Department of Health’s Patient Tracking and Billing Management Information 
System (or its successor).  Data regarding health care services provided by the Grantee shall be 
coded and entered into the Patient Tracking and Billing Management Information System 
(PTBMIS), using the PTBMIS Codes Manual.  The PTBMIS Codes manual is available 
electronically at http://hsaintranet.health.tn.gov/ and e-mail notices shall be sent to the Grantee 
regarding new revisions and/or updates, which can be accessed through the above-referenced 
website. 

  
              On a schedule defined by the State, the Grantee shall submit Central Office Database Report 

(CODB) files, as defined in PTBMIS, electronically to the State. The Grantee shall also submit 
other health care data reports, as requested by the State, and in a format acceptable to the State. 

 
E.7. Healthy Eating Requirements. Grant recipients who purchase or serve snacks or meals in 

conjunction with their performance under this Grant Contract shall provide only healthy foods.  No 
high sugar beverage shall be served at any time.  Fruits and vegetables shall be given preference 
in menu selections. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT: 

 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 

 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

 

http://hsaintranet.health.tn.gov/


1-21-16 GG 

 

15 

 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT: 

 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

 

 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH: 

 

 

JOHN J. DREYZEHNER, MD, MPH, FACOEM, COMMISSIONER DATE 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$130,200.00 $0.00 $130,200.00

2 Benefits & Taxes
$55,500.00 $0.00 $55,500.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$22,200.00 $0.00 $22,200.00

6 Telephone
$600.00 $0.00 $600.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$200.00 $0.00 $200.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

10 Printing & Publications
$15,000.00 $0.00 $15,000.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$6,200.00 $0.00 $6,200.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$100.00 $0.00 $100.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost 
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$230,000.00 $0.00 $230,000.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation 

Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

ATTACHMENT 1

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department County Government   FIMR

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period 

beginning July 1, 2016, and ending June 30, 2017.



SALARIES  Longevity AMOUNT

Barbara Breedwell, Senior Secretary  $   2,526.64 x 12 x 60% +  $               450 $18,641.81

First Name, Last Name, Public Health Nurse (PT)  $   2,158.35 x 12 x 100% $25,900.20

Lisa, Vincent, Nurse Manager  $   4,790.86 x 12 x 100% $57,490.32

Sheila Jones, Public Health Nurse  $   2,518.53 x 12 x 8% $2,417.79

Caroline Foster, Public Health Rep (PT)  $   1,979.12 x 12 x 100% $23,749.44

Overtime  $      166.67 x 12 x 100% $2,000.04

TOTAL ROUNDED $130,200.00 

TRAVEL / CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT

CRT/CAT Meetings $3,600.00 

Local Travel $2,600.00 

TOTAL $6,200.00 

ATTACHMENT 1 (continued)

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 2)



NAME AND REMITTANCE ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE   

INVOICE NUMBER  

INVOICE DATE  

INVOICE PERIOD  
FROM TO

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY   CONTRACT PERIOD   

FROM TO

PROGRAM AREA   

EDISON CONTRACT NUMBER   CONTACT PERSON/TELEPHONE NO.   

OCR CONTRACT NUMBER  

 

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

USERCODE:

Printing & Publications PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Specific Assistance to Individuals USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the data Please check one of the following boxes

above are correct, that all expenditures were made in These services are for medical services

accordance with the contract conditions, and that payment  

is due and has not been previously requested. non-medical services

Title: Title: Title:

Date: Date: Date:

ATTACHMENT: 2

STATE OF TENNESSEE

INVOICE FOR REIMBURSEMENT

TDOH AGENCY INVOICE NUMBER (ONLY FOR FISCAL OFFICE USE)  

FEDERAL ID#   Edison Vendor #   

Tennessee Department of Health

(B)

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Salaries $0.00

DUE

 

BUDGET

 

TOTAL

CONTRACT

Benefits $0.00

Professional Fee/Grant & Award $0.00

Supplies $0.00

Occupancy $0.00

Equipment Rental & Maintenance $0.00

Telephone $0.00

Postage & Shipping $0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

Depreciation $0.00

Interest $0.00

Insurance

Travel/Conferences & Meetings $0.00

CONTRACTOR'S/GRANTEE'S AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE PROGRAM APPROVAL AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

TOTAL $0.00

RECOMMENDED FOR PAYMENT

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY'S AUTHORIZED CERTIFICATION
FOR FISCAL USE ONLY

Other Non Personnel $0.00

Capital Purchase $0.00

Indirect Cost $0.00

FOR CENTRAL OFFICE USE ONLY  

(MO./DAY/YR.)

(C)

MONTHLY

EXPENDITURES

AMOUNT BILLED

YTD

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

BUDGET

LINE

ITEMS

AMOUNT:

(A)

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  



Instructions & Hints

Do not send a worksheet that is linked to another file
Line by line instructions are on the "line by line info" tab

Retain this file in blank form
Use "File Save As" to save information for a specific contract or reporting period
File Names: Please use the following format when naming files.

name of agency REPORTING PERIOD END.xls

do not abbreviate the agency name

example: davidson county health MARCH 02.xls
Reporting period - the start and end dates of the quarter being reported

Reporting periods are based on the Agency's fiscal year
Grant period - the start and end dates of the contract being reported
Send a report for every quarter even if there is no activity for that quarter
Abbreviations - do not abbreviate the Agency name
Number pages using the "page_____of _____ pages" format

THE WORKSHEET IS NOT PROTECTED

do not overwrite formulas (identified by yellow shading and "0" ) or change formats

do not overwrite/edit shaded areas (move to the cell beyond the shading for input)

do not add (insert) lines do not change shaded areas

Expense and Revenue pages can show information for 2 contracts
Use separate Schedules A & B to report contracts for each granting State agency

Use additional expense and revenue pages for more than 2 contracts
     copy all lines & fields to the first blank line below the last line in column A
     with the cursor at the start of the added page, use "insert" "page break" for print purposes
     reset print range to cover the added page(s) and correct the page numbers

Contract Number is the State Contract Number, NOT the agency program number
Report by program within the State Contract Number within State Department
Summarize programs into totals by State Contract Number and State Department totals
Do not combine State Contract Numbers 
One Funding Information Summary and one Schedule C are required from each contractor submitting reports
Review Section C in all contracts for reporting requirements

ALLOCATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

Requires completion of all attached sheets

NOTE If files are not properly named and print ranges not set, the report will be returned for correction
Do not send invoices with expense reports
If refund due, mail reports with check or send note with e-mail that check in the mail

e-mail completed files to: Doug.Curry@tn.gov
e-mail filing replaces mailing forms

Mailing Address:
Doug Curry Telephone:615-532-7115
Tennessee Department of Health FAX 615-741-9533
Fiscal Services
6th Floor - Andrew Johnson Tower
710 James Robertson Parkway
Nashville, TN 37243

Attachment 3

mailto:Doug.Curry@tn.gov


PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT (Excerpted from Policy 3 statement)

SCHEDULE A

EXPENSE BY OBJECT LINE-ITEMS

There are seventeen specific object expense categories; two subtotals (Line 3, Total 

Personnel Expenses, and Line 19, Total Non-personnel Expenses); and Reimbursable 

Capital Purchases (Line 20), above Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses. All expenses

should be included in one or more of the specific categories, or in an additional expense

category entered under Line 18, Other Non-personnel Expenses. The contracting state 

state agency may determine these requirements.

With the exception of depreciation, everything reported in Lines 1 through 21 must 

represent an actual cash disbursement or accrual as defined in the Basis For Reporting 

Expenses/Expenditures section on page 13.

THE YEAR-TO-DATE EXPENSES MUST BE TRACABLE TO THE REPORTING

AGENCY'S GENERAL LEDGER

Line 1 Salaries And Wages

On this line, enter compensation, fees, salaries, and wages paid to officers, directors, 

trustees, and employees. An attached schedule may be required showing client wages or 

other included in the aggregations.

Line 2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes

Enter (a) the organization's contributions to pension plans and to employee benefit 

programs such as health, life, and disability insurance; and (b) the organization's portion of

payroll taxes such as social security and medicare taxes and unemployment and workers’ 

compensation insurance. An attached schedule may be required showing client benefits and

taxes or other included in the aggregations.

Line 3 Total Personnel Expenses

Add lines 1 and 2.

Line 4 Professional Fees

Enter the organization's fees to outside professionals, consultants, and personal-service

contractors. Include legal, accounting, and auditing fees. An attached schedule may be required 

showing the details in the aggregation of professional fees.

Line 5 Supplies

Enter the organization's expenses for office supplies, housekeeping supplies, food and

beverages, and other supplies. An attached schedule may be required showing food

expenses or other details included in the aggregations.

Line 6 Telephone

Enter the organization's expenses for telephone, cellular phones, beepers, telegram, FAX,

E-mail, telephone equipment maintenance, and other related expenses.

Attachment 3



Line 7 Postage And Shipping

Enter the organization's expenses for postage, messenger services, overnight delivery, 

outside mailing service fees, freight and trucking, and maintenance of delivery and 

shipping vehicles. Include vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 8 Occupancy

Enter the organization's expenses for use of office space and other facilities, heat, light,

power, other utilities, outside janitorial services, mortgage interest, real estate taxes, and 

similar expenses. Include property insurance here or on line 14.

Line 9 Equipment Rental And Maintenance

Enter the organization's expenses for renting and maintaining computers, copiers, postage

meters, other office equipment, and other equipment, except for telephone, truck, and

automobile expenses, reportable on lines 6, 7, and 11, respectively.

Line 10 Printing And Publications

Enter the organization's expenses for producing printed materials, purchasing books and

publications, and buying subscriptions to publications.

Line 11 Travel

Enter the organization's expenses for travel, including transportation, meals and lodging, 

and per diem payments. Include gas and oil, repairs, licenses and permits, and leasing 

costs for company vehicles. Include travel expenses for meetings and conferences. Include

vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 12 Conferences And Meetings

Enter the organization's expenses for conducting or attending meetings, conferences, and

conventions. Include rental of facilities, speakers' fees and expenses, printed materials, and

registration fees (but not travel).

Line 13 Interest

Enter the organization's interest expense for loans and capital leases on equipment, trucks

and automobiles, and other notes and loans. Do not include mortgage interest reportable on line 8.

Line 14 Insurance

Enter the organization's expenses for liability insurance, fidelity bonds, and other

insurance. Do not include employee-related insurance reportable on line 2. Do not include 

property and vehicle insurance if reported on lines 7, 8, or 11.

Line 15 Grants And Awards

Enter the organization's awards, grants, subsidies, and other pass-through expenditures to

individuals and to other organizations. Include allocations to affiliated organizations. 

Include in-kind grants to individuals and organizations. Include scholarships, tuition

payments, travel allowances, and equipment allowances to clients and individual beneficiaries.

Pass-through funds are not included when computing administrative expenses reported on Line 22.

Attachment 3



Line 16 Specific Assistance to Individuals

Enter the organization's direct payment of expenses of clients, patients, and individual

beneficiaries. Include such expenses as medicines, medical and dental fees, children's

board, food and homemaker services, clothing, transportation, insurance coverage, and

wage supplements.

Line 17 Depreciation

Enter the expenses the organization records for depreciation of equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other depreciable fixed assets.

Line 18 Other Non-personnel Expenses

NOTE: Expenses reportable on lines 1 through 17 should not be reported in an additional

expense category on line 18. A description should be attached for each additional category

entered on line 18. The contracting state agency may determine these requirements.

Enter the organization's allowable expenses for advertising (1), bad debts (2), contingency

provisions (7), fines and penalties (14), independent research and development (reserved) 

(17), organization (27), page charges in professional journals (29), rearrangement and 

alteration (39), recruiting (41), and taxes (47). Include the organization’s and employees'

membership dues in associations and professional societies (26). Include other fees for the

organization's licenses, permits, registrations, etc.

Line 19 Total Non-personnel Expenses

Add lines 4 through 18.

Line 20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases

Enter the organization's purchases of fixed assets. Include land, equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other fixed assets. An attached schedule may be required

showing the details for each such purchase.

Line 21 Total Direct Program Expenses

Add lines 3, 19, and 20.

Includes direct and allocated direct program expenses.

Line 22 Administrative Expenses

The distribution will be made in accordance with an allocation plan approved by your cognizant 

state agency.

Line 23 Total Direct And Administrative Expenses

Line 23 is the total of Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses, and Line 22, 

Administrative Expenses. Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses Year-to-Date

should agree with the Total of Column B, Year-to-Date Actual Expenditures of the 

Invoice for Reimbursement.

Attachment 3



Line 24 In-Kind Expenses

In-kind Expenses (Line 24) is for reporting the value of contributed resources applied to

the program. Approval and reporting guidelines for in-kind contributions will be specified

by those contracting state agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Carry forward to Schedule B, Line 38.

Line 25 Total Expenses

The sum of Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses, and Line 24, In-kind Expenses,

goes on this line.

PROGRAM REVENUE REPORT (PRR)

SCHEDULE B

SOURCES OF REVENUE

The revenue page is intended to be an extension of the total expenses page, in that the

columns should match up by contract/attachment number and program title. There are ten

revenue sources (Schedule B, Part 1) and three subtotals (Lines 33, 41, and 43). Additional

supplemental schedules for one or more of the line items may be attached, if needed. Each

revenue column should be aligned with its corresponding expense column from Schedule A.

Reimbursable Program Funds

Line 31 Reimbursable Federal Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23, 

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from federal program funds. The state funding agency 

may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 32 Reimbursable State Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23,

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from state program funds. The state funding agency may

require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (Equals Schedule B, Line 55)

Add lines 31 and 32.

Matching Revenue Funds

Line 34 Other Federal Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other federal funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 35 Other State Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other state funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Attachment 3



Line 36 Other Government Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses 

(Equals Line 41), that is from other government funds. The state funding agency may

an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 37 Cash Contributions (Non-government)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from such sources of cash contributions as corporations, 

foundations, trusts, individuals, United Ways, other not-for-profit organizations, and from

affiliated organizations. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing and

reconciliation schedule.

Line 38 In-Kind Contributions (Equals Schedule A, Line 24)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from direct and administrative in-kind contributions. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Approval and guidelines for valuation and reporting of in-kind contributions will be

specified by those grantor agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Line 39 Program Income

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from program income related to the program funded by the state

agency. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 40 Other Matching Revenue

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other revenues not included in lines 34 through 39. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 41 Total Matching Revenue Funds

Add lines 34 through 40

Line 42 Other Program Funds

Enter program income related to the program funded by the state agency but not reported

as matching revenue funds on Line 54.

Line 43 Total Revenue

Add lines 33, 41, and 42

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TOTAL EXPENSES

AND REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES

SCHEDULE B - (Lines 51 to 59)

This section, at the bottom of Schedule B, is for subtracting non-reimbursable amounts

included in Total Expenses (Line 25, Schedule A and Line 51, Schedule B).

The first line of this section, Line 51, Total Expenses, is brought forward from the last

last line of the corresponding Schedule A Total Expense Page.

Attachment 3



There are three categories of adjustments for which titled lines are provided:

Line 52 OTHER UNALLOWABLE EXPENSES:

Some program expenses may not be reimbursable under certain grants. This is a matter

between the contracting parties, and will vary according to the state agency involved and

the type of grant or contract. Consult your contract or the department that funds the

program for guidelines.

Line 53 EXCESS ADMINISTRATION:

This adjustment line may be used to deduct allocated Administration and General expenses

in excess of an allowable percentage specified in the grant contract. It may also be used to

deduct an adjustment resulting from limitations on certain components of Administration

and General expenses. Again, the specific guidelines of the department and grant involved

are the controlling factor.

Line 54 MATCHING EXPENSES (Equals Schedule B, Line 41)

Since the goal is to arrive at a reimbursable amount, the expenses paid out of other sources

of funding, local support and program user fees for example, will have to be deducted. The

amount left should be only that which is to be paid for by the contracting state agency.

Line 55 REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES (Line 51 less Lines 52, 53, and 54)

(Equals Schedule B, Line 33)

This is the amount that the contracting state agency will pay for the quarter's operations of

the program. The cumulative column is what the grant actually paid to date.

Line 56 TOTAL REIMBURSEMENT-TO-DATE

In the quarter-to-date column, this is the total received for this quarter from filing of the

Invoice For Reimbursement. The cumulative column's amount is the total received for the

grant year-to-date.

Line 57 DIFFERENCE (Line 55 less Line 56)

This is the portion of Reimbursable Expenses not yet paid.

Line 58 ADVANCES

Any advance payments for a grant should appear on this line.

Line 59 THIS REIMBURSEMENT (Line 57 less Line 58)

The remainder should be the amount due under the grant contract. Actual payments are

made through the invoicing process and not through the filing of this report.

Attachment 3



POLICY 3 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS - SUMMARY

Policy 3 requires reporting the entire operation of the Grantee agency.  This could include

numerous programs and contracts.  Policy 3 requirements are outlined in each contract and are

available on line at: http://tn.gov/assets/entities/finance/attachments/policy3.pdf

The “Contractor/Grantee” is the agency receiving the state grant.

The “Contracting State Agency” is the state agency that gives the grant.

Reports are normally due 30 days after the close of the Grantee's accounting quarter and year,

which may/may not coincide with the State accounting quarter and year end.  Exact requirements

are in the contract.

Policy 3 reporting requires one report from each contracting agency consisting of Schedules A, B,

and C and a Funding Information Summary.  Schedules A and B detail each program added to a

contract total.  Schedules A and B are designed to show 2 programs per page and there would be

only one Schedule C per grantee.  On Schedules A and B, programs that are not state funded can

be rolled into a single program category.  The lines on Schedule A for year-to-date information add

across all programs/contracts to the corresponding line on the Schedule C - Grant contracts in the

first column and non-grant operations in the second column.

The third column of the Schedule C shows Administrative Expenses incurred by the Grantee.

Administrative expenses are generally those that benefit programs but are not directly associated

with the program/contract.  These could include the Executive Director, office operation, accounting

staff, and other similar expenses.  This column will also show the allocation of Administrative

Expenses to the various programs/contracts, if this is done by the Grantee.  If allocated, a negative

on line 22 is equal to the Administrative Expense allocated to the grant and non-grant

programs/contracts.  Administrative Expenses may include some items that are not subject to

allocation so the amount allocated may/may not equal the total Administrative Expense reported.

Allocation of Administrative Expenses requires an approved allocation plan.

The fourth column of the Schedule C shows the total operation of the reporting grantee for the

year-to-date.  The Policy 3 report should, in total, match the total operation of the Grantee.

The funding Information Summary shows the method of allocating Administrative Expenses.  If

there is no approved allocation plan and the grantee does not allocate Administrative Expenses,

then there is no entry on Schedule C, line 22 and no allocation to the programs/contracts.  This

form must be submitted with every report.

Attachment 3

http://tn.gov/assets/entities/finance/attachments/policy3.pdf


AGENCY NAME

ADDRESS

CITY, STATE, ZIP

REPORTING PERIOD: (MM/DD/YY) FROM: THRU:

AGENCY FISCAL YEAR END (MM/DD)

COST ALLOCATION: DOES YOUR ORGANIZATION HAVE AN APPROVED COST ALLOCATION PLAN?

YES NO

If yes, Name of organization that approved the Plan:

IF COST ALLOCATION IS APPLIED, INDICATE THE METHOD OF ALLOCATION:

Ratio of direct program salaries to total direct salaries applied to administrative cost.

Ratio of direct program expenditure to total direct expenditures applied to administrative cost.

Cost step down.

Other (describe)

Is your organization: A private not-for-profit organization?

A state college or university, or part of a city government?

DIRECTOR PHONE #

PREPARER OF REPORT PHONE #

DATE COMPLETED

Tennessee Department of Health
Funding Information Summary

Attachment 3



Page ___ of ___
Schedule A, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule A
Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages
2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes
3      Total Personnel Expenses (add lines 1 and 2)
4 Professional Fees
5 Supplies
6 Telephone
7 Postage and Shipping
8 Occupancy
9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications
11 Travel
12 Conferences and Meetings
13 Interest
14 Insurance
15 Grants and Awards
16 Specific Assistance to Individuals
17 Depreciation
18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)
a
b
c
d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses (add lines 4 - 18)
20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases
21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES
22 Administrative Expenses
23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
24 In-Kind Expenses
25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 3



Page ___ of ___

Schedule B, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule B
Item # SOURCES OF REVENUE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

Reimbursable Program Funds ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------------
31      Reimbursable Federal Program Funds
32      Reimbursable State Program Funds
33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (equals line 55)

Matching Revenue Funds
34      Other Federal Funds
35      Other State Funds
36      Other Government Funds
37      Cash Contributions (non-government)
38      In-Kind Contributions (equals line 24)
39      Program Income
40      Other Matching Revenue
41 Total Matching Revenue Funds (lines 34 - 40)

42 Other Program Funds

43 Total Revenue (lines 33, 41, & 42)

Reconciliation Between Total and Reimbursable Expenses
51 Total Expenses (line 25)
52 Subtract Other Unallowable Expenses (contractual)
53 Subtract Excess Administration Expenses (contractual)
54 Subtract Matching Expenses (equals line 41)
55 Reimbursable Expenses (line 51 less lines 52,53,54)

56 Total Reimbursement To Date
57 Difference (line 55 less line 56)
58 Advances
59 This reimbursement (line 57 less line 58)

Attachment 3



Page   ___  of ___

Schedule C - Final Page STATE OF TENNESSEE   PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

TOTAL DIRECT 
PROGRAM 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
NONGRANT/ 

UNALLOWABLE 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

EXPENSES GRAND TOTAL
Schedule A Year-To-Date Information
Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages
2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes
3      Total Personnel Expenses
4 Professional Fees
5 Supplies
6 Telephone
7 Postage and Shipping
8 Occupancy
9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications
11 Travel
12 Conferences and Meetings
13 Interest
14 Insurance
15 Grants and Awards
16 Specific Assistance to Individuals
17 Depreciation
18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)
a
b
c
d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses
20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases
21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES
22 Administrative Expenses
23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
24 In-Kind Expenses
25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 3



9-14-15 GG 

 

 

           Attachment 4 

 

Annual (Final) Report* 

 

1.  Grantee Name: 

2.  Grant Contract Edison Number: 

3.  Grant Term: 

4.  Grant Amount: 

5.  Narrative Performance Details: (Description of program goals, outcomes, successes and setbacks, 

benchmarks or indicators used to determine progress, any activities that were not completed) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Submit one copy to:  

 

Rachel Heitmann, Director, Injury Prevention and Detection Program, TN Department of Health; 

John D. Dreyzehner, MD, MPH, FCOEM, Commissioner, TN Department of Health; and 

faaudit@tn.gov - TN Department of Finance and Administration 

mailto:faaudit@tn.gov


ATTACHMENT 5 
 
 
 

 
Parent Child Information 

The Grantee should complete this form and submit it with the Grant Contract. The Grantee should 
submit only one, completed “Parent Child Information” document to the State during the 
Grantee’s fiscal year.  

 
“Parent” means an entity whose IRS filing contains the information of at least one other entity. 
 
“Child” means an entity whose information is contained in another entity’s IRS filing. 
 
Grantee’s Edison Vendor ID number:  
 
Is Grantee Legal Entity Name a parent?           
Yes           No 
 
If yes, provide the name and Edison Vendor ID number, if applicable, of any child entities.  
 
Is Grantee Legal Entity Name a child?  
Yes  No 
 
If yes, complete the fields below. 
 
Parent entity’s name: ___________________________________________________________ 
 
Parent entity’s tax identification number: ____________________________________________ 
 
Note: If the parent entity’s tax identification number is a social security number, this form 
must be submitted via US mail to: 

 
Central Procurement Office, Grants Program Manager 

3rd Floor, WRS Tennessee Tower 
312 Rosa L Parks Avenue 

Nashville, TN 37243 
Parent entity’s contact information 
  
 Name of primary contact person: ____________________________________________ 
  
 Address: _______________________________________________________________ 
  
 Phone number: _________________________________________________________ 
  
 Email address: __________________________________________________________ 
 
Parent entity’s Edison Vendor ID number, if applicable: ________________________________  
 

 

  



No. 316-34 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON 
COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE 
CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO SIGN  A CONTRACT 
AMENDMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $23,490.00 WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF 
HEALTH TO PROVIDE EMERGENCY DENTAL CARE FOR UNINSURED ADULTS AGES 19 – 
64 YEARS FOR THE TIME  PERIOD JULY 1, 2015 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2016 AND TO 
INCREASE THE REVENUE AND EXPENSE BUDGETS BY $23,490.00. 
 
WHEREAS, poor oral health has been linked to detrimental chronic health conditions; and                                                  
 
WHEREAS, many adults are without adequate dental insurance to cover the expense of 

emergency dental care; and  
 
WHEREAS, the State has identified additional funds to provide support for adult emergency 

dental care in certain health facilities in Tennessee; and 
 
WHEREAS, this program and services is for the health and well-being of the citizens of 

Hamilton County. 
  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract amendment in the 
amount of  $23,490.00 for the time period of July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016 and 
increase the revenue and expense budgets by $23,490.00. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 























No. 316-35 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON 
COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION OPERATING AS THE 
CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO ENTER INTO 
AND EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH BLUECROSS BLUESHIELD OF TENNESSEE 
FOR THE PROVISION OF BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES AT OUR HOMELESS 
HEALTH CARE CENTER TO PRODUCT MEMBERS EFFECTIVE 3/16/2016. 
 
WHEREAS, the Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department desires to provide 

Behavioral Health Services at our Homeless Health Care Center with 
BlueCross BlueShield insurance; and  

 
WHEREAS, BlueCross BlueShield is a licensed health insurer by the state of 

Tennessee; and 
 
WHEREAS,  both the Health Department and BlueCross BlueShield have agreed to a 

contractual relationship. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 

That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract  with 
BlueCross BlueShield for the delivery and remuneration of Behavioral 
Health services effective March 16, 2016. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



















































































No. 316-36 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF SWARCO INDUSTRIES, INC. FOR ONE (1) 
YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING MARCH 16, 2016, THROUGH MARCH 15, 
2017, FOR GLASS SPHERE REFLECTIVE BEADS FOR THE HIGHWAY 
DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year 

contract pricing for glass sphere reflective beads for the Highway Department 
/ Traffic Shop; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bid from Swarco Industries, Inc. amounting to $566.00 per container was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Swarco Industries, Inc. for one (1) year contract pricing beginning March 16, 
2016, through March 15, 2017, for glass sphere reflective beads for the Highway Department 
is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County 
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 























No. 316-37 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF 84 LUMBER COMPANY FOR SIX (6) MONTHS 
CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING MARCH 16, 2016, THROUGH SEPTEMBER 15, 2016, FOR 
BAGGED PORTLAND CEMENT FOR THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING 
THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS,  bids were received in response to public advertisement for six (6) months contract 

pricing for bagged Portland cement for the Highway Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from 84 Lumber Company amounting to $9.75 per bag was the only bid 

received, but said bid is deemed reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of 84 Lumber Company for six (6) months contract pricing, beginning March 16, 2016, 
through September 15, 2016, for bagged Portland cement for the Highway Department is hereby 
accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign 
any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 























No. 316-38 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF YSI INCORPORATED FOR TWO (2) 
WATER QUALITY SONDES AMOUNTING TO $26,107.25 FOR THE HAMILTON 
COUNTY WATER QUALITY PROGRAM AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 
TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
  
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for two (2) water 

quality sondes for the Hamilton County Water Quality Program; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from YSI Incorporated amounting to $26,107.25 was considered to be 

the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of YSI Incorporated for two (2) water quality sondes amounting to $26,107.25 for 
the Hamilton County Water Quality Program is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and 
best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



































No. 316-39 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
March 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF SEVENTY THOUSAND 
DOLLARS ($70,000.00) IN SETTLEMENT OF A CLAIM AGAINST HAMILTON 
COUNTY AS BROUGHT BY LINDA K. PORTER FOR PHYSICAL INJURIES 
RECEIVED AS A RESULT OF A MOTOR VEHICLE ACCIDENT WITH A HAMILTON 
COUNTY VEHICLE.  
 

WHEREAS,    litigation has been instituted against Hamilton County, Tennessee,  
   by Linda K. Porter for physical injuries she received as a result of a  
   motor vehicle accident of December 9, 2013, between the vehicle  
   where she was a passenger and a Hamilton County vehicle being  
   operated by a Hamilton County employee; and  
 

WHEREAS,   through a court-ordered mediation, negotiations were had which  
   resulted in a determination that this cause of action can be settled  
   by the sum of Seventy Thousand Dollars ($70,000.00) being paid  
   to said Linda K. Porter in complete satisfaction of any and all  
   claims that she has, or might have, against Hamilton County; and  
 

WHEREAS,   this county legislative body feels that the payment of said amount  
   would be in the best interest of the citizens of Hamilton County,  
   and would bring about a fair disposition of this matter. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

  That the payment of Seventy Thousand Dollars ($70,000.00) is hereby  
  authorized to be paid to Linda K. Porter for the full and complete  
  settlement of any and all claims that she has against Hamilton County 
  for injuries and losses she sustained as a result of a motor vehicle  
  accident with a Hamilton County vehicle on or about December 9, 2013. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

March 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 


	3-16-16 Revised Public Agenda
	316-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - February 24, 2016 _2172_02-24-16 Recessed
	316-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - February 24, 2016 _2173_02-24-16 Agenda
	316-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - March 2, 2016 _2174_03-02-16 Regular
	316-_S_Report_Order of Designation Planning Commission  Todd Leamon March 14 2016_2179_Order of Designation Planning Commission Todd Leamon March 14 2016
	316-17_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_2175_03-16-16
	316-17_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_2175_03-16-16A
	316-18_R_Appointment(s)_Reappointment of County Engineer Todd Leamon to the Phase II Storm Water Management Committee_2178_Leamon Resolution
	316-19_R_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for Chattanooga Room in the Inn Inc_2150_Comm Mackey Room in the Inn
	316-19_S_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for Chattanooga Room in the Inn Inc_2150_1426_001
	316-20_R_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for Churchville Neighborhood Association Inc_2171_Comm Mackey Churchville
	316-20_S_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for Churchville Neighborhood Association Inc_2171_1474_001
	316-21_R_Albert Kiser_Professional Services List Addition of Elevator Consulting_2158_RES PROFESSIONAL SERVICES - Elevator  and Technology  Consulting Services 3-16
	316-22_R_Albert Kiser_Adoption of a funding policy for Hamilton Countys three defined benefit plans that are not managed by TCRS_2161_Pension Plans Funding Policy
	316-22_S_Albert Kiser_Adoption of a funding policy for Hamilton Countys three defined benefit plans that are not managed by TCRS_2161_AFunding Policy - Employees' Pension Plan
	316-22_S_Albert Kiser_Adoption of a funding policy for Hamilton Countys three defined benefit plans that are not managed by TCRS_2161_BFunding Policy - Commissioners' Pension Plan
	316-22_S_Albert Kiser_Adoption of a funding policy for Hamilton Countys three defined benefit plans that are not managed by TCRS_2161_CFunding Policy - Teachers' Pension Plan
	316-23_R_Albert Kiser_Intergovernmental transfer on behalf of Erlanger Health System_2177_ErlagerIntergovTransfer
	316-24_R_Zoning_Rezoning  Zoning Item_2152_REs 3-16-14 #3
	316-24_S_Zoning_Rezoning - Zoning Item_2152_2016-014
	316-25_R_Zoning_Rezoning - Zoning Item_2153_March #16
	316-25_S_Zoning_Rezoning - Zoning Item_2153_2016-016
	316-26_R_Zoning_Rezoning - Zoning Item_2154_March #27
	316-26_S_Zoning_Rezoning - Zoning Item_2154_2016-027
	316-27_R_Zoning_Rezoning - Zoning Item_2155_March Reg Amend
	316-27_S_Zoning_Rezoning - Zoning Item_2155_CoAppPUD
	316-28_R_Sheriff Hammond_Cargo Van_2162_RES. CARGO VAN
	316-28_S_Sheriff Hammond_Cargo Van_2162_Cargo Van
	316-29_R_Sheriff Hammond_Ballistic Helmets_2169_RES. BALLISTIC HELMETS
	316-29_S_Sheriff Hammond_Ballistic Helmets_2169_Ballistic Helmets
	316-30_R_Albert Kiser_Fuel February 2016_2159_Fuel Resolution February 2016
	316-30_S_Albert Kiser_Fuel February 2016_2159_February 2016 docs
	316-31_R_Lee Norris_2015 Homeland Security Grant Program (HSGP)_2151_2015 Resolution Homelamd Security Grant
	316-31_S_Lee Norris_2015 Homeland Security Grant Program (HSGP)_2151_HSGP Contract 2015
	316-32_R_Lee Norris_Litter Prevention and Trash Collection Grant_2168_$108900 prevention  colletion of trash
	316-33_R_Becky Barnes_Fetal Infant Mortality Review and Community Infant Mortality Reduction_2156_CERP Resolution FIMR 2016-17
	316-33_S_Becky Barnes_Fetal Infant Mortality Review and Community Infant Mortality Reduction_2156_34347-33417 Chattanooga-Hamilton FIMR for signature
	316-34_R_Becky Barnes_Emergency Dental Care_2160_Emergency Dental Care Resolution 2016
	316-34_S_Becky Barnes_Emergency Dental Care_2160_Emergency Dental Care Contract 2016
	316-35_R_Becky Barnes_BlueCross BlueShield Behavioral Health_2176_BlueCross BlueShield Behavioral Health Resolution CERP
	316-35_S_Becky Barnes_BlueCross BlueShield Behavioral Health_2176_BlueCross BlueShield Behavioral Health contract FY 2016 CERP
	316-36_R_Todd Leamon_Glass Sphere Reflective Beads_2163_RES. REFLECTIVE GLASS BEADS
	316-36_S_Todd Leamon_Glass Sphere Reflective Beads_2163_Glass Sphere Reflective Beads
	316-37_R_Todd Leamon_Bagged Portland Cement_2166_RES. BAGGED PORTLAND CEMENT
	316-37_S_Todd Leamon_Bagged Portland Cement_2166_Bagged Portland Cement
	316-38_R_Todd Leamon_Water Quality Sondes_2167_RES. (2) WATER QUALITY SONDES
	316-38_S_Todd Leamon_Water Quality Sondes_2167_Water Quality Sondes
	316-39_R_Rheubin Taylor_Settlement of Linda K Porters lawsuit_2194_Settlement Authorization (Linda K Porter)



